

Final Report

Blackheart - an emerging problem for the GB potato packing industry

Ref: R456

Reporting Period: August 2011 – January 2016

Report Author: Elsa Kiaitsi

Report No. 2016/2

© Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board 2016. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any material form (including by photocopy or storage in any medium by electronic means) or any copy or adaptation stored, published or distributed (by physical, electronic or other means) without the prior permission in writing of the Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board, other than by reproduction in an unmodified form for the sole purpose of use as an information resource when the Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board is clearly acknowledged as the source, or in accordance with the provisions of the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988. All rights reserved.

AHDB

AHDB is a registered trademark of the Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board.

All other trademarks, logos and brand names contained in this publication are the trademarks of their respective holders. No rights are granted without the prior written permission of the relevant owners.

Additional copies of this report and a list of other publications can be obtained from:

Publications

AHDB Potatoes Stoneleigh Park Kenilworth Warwickshire CV8 2TL Tel: 02476 692051 Fax: 02476 478902 E-mail: Potatoes.Publications@ahdb.org.uk

Our reports, and lists of publications, are also available at potatoes.ahdb.org.uk

CONTENTS

1.	SUMMARY	4
2.	INTRODUCTION	5
2.1	1. Effect of storage temperature and shelf-life conditions on BH incidence	5
2.2	2. Effect of tuber size and weight on the incidence of BH	11
2.3	3. Gas diffusivity measurements	12
2.4	4. Biochemical changes: non-structural carbohydrates	18
2.5	5. Biochemical changes: phenolic content	24
2.6	6. Biochemical changes: aromatic amino acids	30
2.7	7. Untargeted metabolomics approach	34
3.	CONCLUSIONS	45
4.	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	46
5.	Relevant literature	47

1. SUMMARY

The aim of this component of the project was to study the physiological and biochemical mechanisms involved in blackheart (BH) disorder. The number of tubers (from a stock) which can be studied using the detailed biochemical and physiological techniques required is limited and as such has often meant that in the absence of a method to reliably induce blackheart in 100% of tubers of a susceptible stock, the researchers have had to work with tubers that never developed blackheart symptoms. As a result, it has been difficult to draw firm conclusions about the factors which contribute to, or are characteristic of, blackheart symptom expression. Based on the information that is available the conclusions are:

- Cold initial temperature (1.5°C) was the main factor influencing both respiration rate and compositional changes in potato tubers from stocks with different susceptibility to BH.
- A relation between respiration rate and BH could not be made.
- The temperature and exposure period in which BH shows greater incidence could not readily be predicted. It is still unclear whether brown tissue discolorations seen in this project were stimulated or induced at very low initial storage temperature and then exacerbated during shelf-life evaluation at either 15 or 20°C.
- Similarities in biochemical changes between susceptible and non-susceptible BH stocks were observed in both years 1 and 2.
- Sugars tended to be more accumulated in the BH susceptible stocks compared to the non-susceptible stocks.
- Chlorogenic acid was highly accumulated in both control and discoloured samples of susceptible to BH stocks.
- Untargeted metabolomics lead to the identification of differences in chemical composition between samples of tissues with blackheart symptoms and those without (and between tubers from stocks designated as BH susceptible and those designated as non-susceptible). The differences were more pronounced in year 1 of the work. A larger number of samples were analysed in year 2 of the study and further biochemical research is needed in order to understand how differences in the composition/quantity of metabolites between tissue samples are related to BH susceptibility.

2. INTRODUCTION

The aim of this component of the project was to study the physiological and biochemical mechanisms involved in blackheart (BH) disorder. The SBCSR induction method (see Report No. 2015/9) was used to select potato stocks (cv. Maris Piper) with different susceptibility to BH. A range of techniques were applied to samples of the selected stocks in three seasons of experiments. The methods and results of these experiments are summarized below.

2.1. Effect of storage temperature and shelf-life conditions on BH incidence

According to customer complaints, BH disorder in potato tubers is more evident by the end of the winter, peaking in spring time. One hypothesis is that inappropriate storage and/or shelf-life conditions may contribute to BH development. In this experiment, Maris Piper stocks were exposed to different storage temperatures and monitored (respiration rate, biochemical analysis) before and after transfer to different shelf-life conditions.

Methods

Year 1 (2011-2012)

Three potato stocks with different susceptibility to BH were initially stored at 1.5 or 3°C and then transferred to 15°C for shelf-life evaluation in air and/or CA. In total there were seven sampling points (outturns). Samples of tubers, including flesh, heart and peel tissues, were taken at the outturns and stored (frozen) pending biochemical analysis.

Year 2 (2012-2013)

Three potato stocks with different susceptibility to BH were initially stored at 1.5°C until required. The experiment ran from 7/12/2012 to 10/05/2013. Tubers were transferred to 20°C in air and sampled on two sampling days post transfer. In total there was a baseline and five sampling points (outturns). Samples of tubers, including flesh, heart and peel tissues, were taken at the outturns and stored (frozen) pending biochemical analysis.

Additionally, some tubers were stored at 1.5°C and then transferred (19th June 2013) to 20°C under various gas combinations. The experiment lasted 14 days (ending on the 3rd July 2013).

Note on the methods:

It is known that when potatoes are transferred from a cooler to warmer temperature condensation occurs on their skin surface due to temperature difference and a restriction in O₂ diffusion arises due to the water film formed on their skin (Burton and Wigginton, 1970; Hooker, 1981; Pringle *et al.*, 1996, 2009; Wale *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, it is worth mentioning that when potatoes were transferred unwashed from the cold temperature in order to be sampled on day 0 at 15 or 20°C (in year 1 and year 2, respectively), a prior 3-5 hour warming up for the tubers was allowed before sampling. However, during this project condensation was not observed on the tubers.

Year 3 (2013-2014)

A gas diffusivity experiment was conducted from the 30th of May 2014 until 13th of June 2014 at the Faculty of Bio-science Engineering (K.U. Leuven) in Leuven, Belgium. Two potato stocks cv. Maris Piper (one susceptible and one non-susceptible to BH) were studied. The microstructure and O₂ diffusivity of potato tuber tissue samples (flesh and heart) were recorded in order to understand if there is a detectable relationship with BH incidence.

Results

Blackheart symptoms:

BH symptoms are linked with black discoloration localized in the very central part of the tuber (pith), but sometimes may diffuse in the unaffected perimedulla tuber area without reaching the cortex, depending on the severity (Hooker, 1981). It is reported that exclusion of O₂ leads to irregularities in shape discoloration across the pith, but at very high temperatures the discoloration may be formed in a circle-like shape (Stewart and Mix, 1917; Wale *et al.*, 2008). In this project, less and more intense brown tissue discolorations localized in tuber pith were mostly identified and sometimes accompanied with brown scattered blotches (Fig. 1).



Figure 1 Examples of affected potato tubers cv. Maris Piper indicating tuber tissue discoloration as brown centre light (BCL) (a), pith (b), brown centre (BC), dark brown to black (BH) (d). Control tuber showing no discoloration (e).

Year 1 & Year 2

In year 1, brown tissue discolorations localized in the central pith part of the tuber occurred in the two stocks which had been designated BH-susceptible (on the basis of the initial evaluation using the SBCSR induction method). BH in these stocks (stock 20 and stock 23) was first observed in December 2012 after 8 weeks of storage at low temperature (1.5 or 3°C), peaking after a few months during springtime. However, the total percentage of BH incidence was low (< 10%). Stock 23 had significantly (ca. 3-fold) greater BH incidence compared to stock 20 and yet BH-like symptoms were found in just three tubers of stock 23 (out of 504 tested). No indications of discoloration were observed at the baseline sampling (November 2011), when no initial cold storage temperature had yet occurred. This might suggest that the cold storage at low temperature (1.5 or 3°C), after baseline may trigger the brown tissue discoloration.

In year 2, the incidence of BH in both experiments conducted was so low that no conclusions on the impact of storage and/or shelf life conditions could be drawn.

Respiration rate

Year 1

There was an increase in respiration rate on sampling day 3 and then a slight decrease on sampling day 7. Generally, stock 23 (susceptible to BH) recorded the lowest respiration rate when compared to stock 20 (susceptible to BH) and stock 12 (non-susceptible to BH). Tubers stored under CA (10% CO₂) had a greater respiration rate compared to those stored in air only and that was due to the CO₂ efflux. Moreover, respiration rate was higher in those tubers initially stored at 1.5°C compared with those at 3°C and this was more pronounced in CA conditions. However, there was a variation in respiration rate between the stocks analysed over storage time (Fig. 2 and 3).



Figure 2 Respiration rate (ml CO₂ kg⁻¹ h⁻¹) of stock 20 (susceptible to BH), stock 23 (susceptible to BH) and stock 12 (non-susceptible to BH) recorded over storage time in air only at 15°C on sampling days 0, 3 and 7. Initial storage temperature and general LSD is shown.



Figure 3 Respiration rate (ml CO₂ kg⁻¹ h⁻¹) of stock 20 (susceptible to BH), stock 23 (susceptible to BH) and stock 12 (non- susceptible to BH) recorded after storage in CA (10% CO₂) at 15°C on sampling days 3 and 7 over storage time. Initial storage temperature and general LSD is shown.

Year 2

In general, stock 3 (non-susceptible to BH) scored the highest respiration rate with mean of 7.62 ml CO₂ kg⁻¹ h⁻¹compared to stock 7 and stock 12 (both susceptible to BH) (means = 5.32 and 5.14 ml CO₂ kg⁻¹ h⁻¹, respectively) (Fig. 4). Because the incidence of BH was so low, it was not possible to examine if there was any statistically significant relationship between BH susceptibility and respiration rate.



Figure 4 Respiration rate (ml CO₂ kg⁻¹ h⁻¹) of potato stocks cv. Maris Piper [stock 7 (susceptible to BH), stock 12 (susceptible to BH) and stock 3 (non-susceptible to BH)] recorded after baseline (BL) and storage in air at 20°C. Tubers were initially stored at 1.5° C for 4, 8, 12, 16 and 20 weeks. Values are means (n = 3). General LSD is shown.

Overall, according to the findings in both years it seems that differences in respiration rate were due to low initial storage temperature. The studies of different post transfer atmospheres (Year 1: viz. 21% O_2 ; 10% CO_2 ; 10% O_2 and 5% O_2 [data not shown]) indicated that respiration rate was lower at 5% O_2 , but this did not result in a significantly different incidence of BH, compared to the other atmospheres studied.

2.2. Effect of tuber size and weight on the incidence of BH

Years 1 & 2

The tuber size (length and maximum equatorial diameter) and tuber weight were also examined as additional factors influencing the incidence of BH. In year 1 (2011-2012), potato tubers from all three stocks analysed were similar in size (ca. 102 mm in length, 70 mm in diameter) and weight (ca. 240 g). Stock 23 (susceptible to BH) showed ca. 3-times greater BH incidence compared to stock 20 (susceptible to BH). Generally, none of the dimensions measured, nor the weight of tubers, had any observable effect on BH incidence. In year 2 (2012-2013) all tubers derived from all three potato stocks and used in both experiments were similar in weight (ca. 241-272 g) and size (ca. 91–103 mm in length and 73-76 mm in diameter). The incidence of BH was so low that no conclusions on the impact of tuber size on BH could be drawn.

2.3. Gas diffusivity measurements

Year 3

In potato tubers, O_2 diffusion initially occurs through the lenticels of the skin that are the dominant barriers, then passes through the flesh to the intercellular spaces where eventually respiration takes place in the cytoplasm-mitochondria, while CO2 is released following the opposite path (Wigginton, 1973; Banks and Kays, 1988; Weber, 1990; Geigenberger et al., 2000; Ho et al., 2010). Potato tubers are compact crops having low porosity with only 1-2% of intercellular space volume in the tissue (Banks and Kays, 1988; Scotsmans et al., 2003; Ho et al., 2006). Adequate O₂ concentration is contained in the intercellular spaces of the tuber tissue due to low respiration rate of the tuber under regular storage conditions, but partial anoxia might occur at the centre of the tuber under adverse environments (Burton, 1950; Woolley, 1962; Wigginton, 1973; Abdul-Baki and Solomos, 1994). Insufficient gas exchange and limited supply of O₂ might ultimately lead to physiological changes and tissue cell impairment and cell death (Geigenberger et al., 2000; Ferreira de Souza et al., 2002; Verboven et al., 2008; Zabalza et al., 2009). As the gas exchange mechanism in tubers is largely dependent on the intercellular space and cell structure arrangement, X-ray micro-computed tomography was used in year 3 to study tuber tissue. The technique allows the tissue structure in flesh and heart tissue samples to be visualized. The samples were taken from tubers of two Maris Piper stocks which had been designated either BH-susceptible[stock 10] or BH non-susceptible [stock 4] on the basis of an initial evaluation using the SBCSR induction method. Oxygen diffusivity and respiration rate were also measured for the samples. Because of the nature of the methods it was only possible to study tissue samples from two tubers of each stock for the X-ray CT work and eight tubers per stock for the O₂ diffusivity work.

Results

Both micro-CT scans (Fig. 5) and 3D images (Fig. 6 and 7) showed that the gasfilled intercellular spaces of flesh and heart tissue were not well connected and varied in size and shape.



Figure 5 X-ray micro-CT scans of flesh (a) and heart (b) tissue (3 mm in diameter and 5 mm in thickness) of tuber 1 from stock 4 (nonsusceptible to BH) at 2 µm pixel resolution. Intercellular spaces are shown as a black hole shape. Suspected starch granules are shown in light grey colour. Selected regions of interest (500 x 500 pixels) are shown.



Figure 6 3D microstructure of flesh and heart tissue of tuber 1 (a) and tuber 2 (b) from stock 4 (non-susceptible to BH) reconstructed after micro-CT scanning.



Figure 7 3D microstructure of flesh and heart tissue of tuber 1 (a) and tuber 2 (b) from stock 10 (susceptible to BH) reconstructed after micro-CT scanning.

During the experiment all tuber tissue samples were sound with no indications of discoloration except a brown centre (BC) discoloration that occurred in a tuber of stock 4 (non-susceptible to BH) at measurement on day 7 (Fig. 8).



Figure 8. BC (brown center) discoloration in tuber of stock 4 (nonsusceptible to BH) (a). Heart and flesh tissue samples of stock 10 (susceptible to BH) (b) and stock 4 (c) before O₂ diffusion measurement on day 7.

According to Table 1, it was shown that the highest $(1.08 \times 10^{-9} \text{ m}^2 \text{ s}^{-1})$ and the lowest $(0.5 \times 10^{-9} \text{ m}^2 \text{ s}^{-1})$ average O₂ diffusivity was observed in the heart and flesh tissue of stock 10 (susceptible to BH), respectively. O₂ diffusivity of heart tissue of stock 4 was slightly higher than that of flesh tissue $(0.74 \times 10^{-9} \text{ and } 0.69 \times 10^{-9} \text{ m}^2 \text{ s}^{-1})$, respectively). Also, the O₂ diffusivity of that heart tissue of stock 4 with BC discoloration was 0.069 x $10^{-9} \text{ m}^2 \text{ s}^{-1}$ (Table 1).

Magguramant	Stoc	k 10	Stock 4			
Weasurement	FLESH	HEART	FLESH	HEART		
1	0.095 x 10 ⁻⁹	2.74 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.080 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.158 x 10 ⁻⁹		
2	0.105 x 10 ⁻⁹	2.70 x 10 ⁻⁹	4.81 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.094 x 10 ⁻⁹		
3	3.21 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.119 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.079 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.090 x 10 ⁻⁹		
4	0.196 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.172 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.087 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.131 x 10 ⁻⁹		
5	0.083 x 10 ⁻⁹	2.57 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.110 x 10 ⁻⁹	5.07 x 10 ⁻⁹		
6	0.075 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.081 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.087 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.069 x 10 ⁻⁹		
7	0.162 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.142 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.173 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.069 x 10 ⁻⁹		
8	0.070 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.126 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.095 x10 ⁻⁹	0.107 x 10 ⁻⁹		
Average	0.5 x 10 ⁻⁹	1.08 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.69 x 10 ⁻⁹	0.74 x 10 ⁻⁹		

Table 1 Oxygen diffusion $[D_{O2} (m^2 s^{-1})]$ of flesh and heart tissue from stock 10 (susceptible to BH) and stock 4 (non-susceptible to BH).

Because the tubers of the selected stocks didn't clearly show consistent differences in the incidence of BH during the period of study it was not possible to draw conclusions as to whether there was a significant relationship between either the size and/or shape of the intercellular spaces in the tuber tissue and BH nor between the measured rates of O₂ diffusivity and BH incidence.

Variability in the organisation of intercellular spaces was observed between flesh and heart tuber tissue. This was due to "noise" caused by starch accumulation and also the sampling position of the potato tubers from which flesh and heart tissues were cut and scanned.

The technique to study O_2 diffusivity has been extensively used to elucidate changes in gas diffusivities of pear fruit with or without core breakdown disorder (Ho *et al.*, 2006a, b 2007). The results reported here indicate that further studies using the technique would be warranted as there is currently a dearth of information on the gas diffusivity of different regions of the potato tuber. Further studies would provide a larger dataset and help understand whether BH is induced when O_2 is depleted and consumed faster than it may be supplied resulting in cell necrosis mainly in the central part of the tuber (as proposed by Lipton, 1967; Smith, 1978; Banks and Kays; 1988). It would be particularly interesting to estimate the O_2 diffusion in specific regions of the perimedullary and the central pith.

2.4. Biochemical changes: non-structural carbohydrates

Years 1 & 2

Sugar content in potato tubers stored at very cold storage temperatures may be a good indicator of their compositional changes during the storage life (Kumar, 2011). In this project, the major sugars present in potato tubers namely fructose, glucose and sucrose were quantified in samples of tubers that were initially stored at 1.5°C.

Sucrose, the substrate for fructose and glucose biosynthesis, may either be catalysed by sucrose synthase or invertase enzymes. At cold storage temperatures, inactivation of invertase inhibitor leads to expression of invertase resulting in rapid sucrose degradation to reducing sugar (fructose, glucose) accumulation (Zhou and Solomos, 1998; Bologa *et al.*, 2003; Kumar, 2011). This cold-induced phenomenon known as 'low temperature sweetening' (TLS) or 'cold-induced sweetening' (CIS).

In year 1, although there was an increase through storage time, both sucrose and reducing sugar content varied among sampling days 0, 3 and 7. On Day 0 (Baseline), all the tubers were held at 15°C. After this time point tubers were transferred to 1.5°C. The baseline measurements did not show significant differences in fructose, glucose or sucrose content between the three stocks or between heart and flesh tissue samples. After the transfer to 1.5°C, stock 23 (susceptible to BH) accumulated higher levels of fructose and glucose compared to the other two stocks. After 8 weeks of storage, stock 23 had significantly higher sucrose content compared to the other two stocks. In general, it was observed that higher sugar content was accumulated more in the heart when compared to flesh tissue samples. In year 1, brown tissue discolorations were mostly observed in heart tissue samples of both susceptible to BH stocks (stock 20 and stock 23), but a few heart samples of stock 23 showed more intense brown to black tissue discoloration. It was observed that stock 23 which showed greater tissue discoloration (ca. 3- fold compared to stock 20) had also higher reducing sugar content compared with stock 20 and stock 12 (nonsusceptible to BH). That high sugar accumulation in stock 23 was observed in both tissue samples suggested that the whole tuber was affected after storage at low cold temperature (Fig. 9).



Figure 9 Fructose (a), glucose (b) and sucrose (c) concentrations (mg g⁻¹ DW) in flesh and heart tissue of potato tubers Maris Piper stock 20 (susceptible to BH), stock 23 (susceptible to BH) and stock 12 (non-susceptible to BH) at baseline and after storage in air only at 15°C on sampling days 0, 3 and 7. Tubers were initially stored at 1.5°C for 8, 16 and 20 weeks. Values are means (n= 3). LSDs are shown (P < 0.05).

In year 2, on day 0 (Baseline, BL), all the tubers were held at 20°C. After this date tubers were transferred to 1.5°C. Fructose and glucose content of stock 7 (susceptible to BH) was similar to that of stock 23 (susceptible to BH) measured in year 1. However, in year 2 fructose and glucose did not increase significantly during storage time. Sucrose content of stock 3 (non-susceptible to BH) was significantly lower compared to stock 7 (susceptible to BH). Generally in year 2, reducing sugar content was also ca. 2-fold higher in heart than flesh tissue samples of both stocks when measured at 20°C. In year 2, the incidence of BH symptoms was lower than in Year 1. Stock 7 included tubers which developed BH symptoms. At baseline, the concentration of fructose was significantly higher in BC (brown center) heart compared to BC flesh and BCL (brown center light) samples. However all those affected samples had significantly lower fructose compared to control samples of stock 7 and stock 3 as well (Fig. 10). At baseline, BCL heart samples contained ca. 2-fold greater glucose (54 mg g^{-1} DW) compared to BC heart samples (24.2 mg g^{-1} DW), however, there were no significant differences between BCL and control heart samples of stock 7 and control samples of stock 3 (non-susceptible to BH) (Fig. 11). At baseline and after 4 weeks of storage, affected samples of stock 7 contained significantly higher sucrose than those control samples of stock 7 and stock 3. Sucrose content was similar for those affected and control samples of stock 7 after 12, 16 and 20 weeks of storage (Fig. 12).



Figure 11 Fructose unlogged and logged10 concentrations (mg g⁻¹ DW) in flesh and heart tissue of potato tubers Maris Piper stock 7 (susceptible to BH) and stock 3 (non-susceptible to BH) at baseline and after storage in air at 20°C. Tubers were initially stored at 1.5° C for 4, 8, 12, 16 and 20 weeks. Values are means (n = 3). General LSD is shown.



Figure 11 Glucose unlogged and logged10 concentrations (mg g⁻¹ DW) in flesh and heart tissue of potato tubers Maris Piper stock 7 (susceptible to BH) and stock 3 (non-susceptible to BH) after baseline and storage in air at 20°C. Tubers were initially stored at 1.5° C for 4, 8, 12, 16 and 20 weeks. Values are means (n = 3). General LSD is shown.



Figure 12 Sucrose unlogged and logged10 concentrations (mg g⁻¹ DW) in flesh and heart tissue of potato tubers Maris Piper stock 7 (susceptible to BH) and stock 3 (non-susceptible to BH) after baseline and storage in air at 20°C. Tubers were initially stored at 1.5° C for 4, 8, 12, 16 and 20 weeks. Values are means (n = 3). General LSD is shown.

To date, no relation in reducing sugar accumulation and BH disorder has ever been reported. Sugar content may vary from cultivar to cultivar but it has been shown that it might be more accumulated in the pith indicating that its mobilization is more active towards this tuber area (Baijal and Van Vliet, 1966; Weaver et al., 1978). A study on the reducing sugar content in different tuber parts of six potato cultivars by Weaver et al. (1978) showed sugar content variation between the cultivars after storage at 7°C for 2-4 months and/or after reconditioning at 20°C for 3 weeks. The cultivars Kennebec and White Rose had higher reducing sugar content in the core tuber part while Russet Burbank the lower. Dwelle and Stallknecht (1978) also reported slightly higher total and reducing sugar content in central pith tissue samples of Kennebec compared to Russet Burbank after storage at 1.7°C. Those three potato cultivars seem to have different susceptibility to physiological disorders. O'Brien and Rich (1976) suggested that Russet Burbank cultivar is resistant to BH while according to Robinson and Secor (NDSU, 2014) this cultivar is susceptible to internal heat necrosis (IHN) and brown centre (BC) as Van Denburgh et al. (1980, 1986) has previously pointed out. Kennebec cultivar was found to be susceptible to low temperature injury and BH (Craft et al., 1958; Butchbaker et al., 1967). Lipton (1967) reported BH incidence in White Rose potato tubers after storage in 0.5-1% O₂ at 15-20°C with ca. 2-fold lower glucose concentration in the outer and inner parts of the tubers compared to those held in air (21% O₂). Furthermore, Zhou and Solomos (1998) showed increase in sugar content of Russet Burbank potatoes in air at 1°C, but strong inhibition after storage in 1.5% O₂ at 1°C due to hypoxia. In this project, sugars were much higher compared to those results previously published, but it seems that different storage conditions and storage temperature affect the sugar accumulation.

2.5. Biochemical changes: phenolic content

Years 1 & 2 Notes on the methods

In year 1, phenolic content quantification was carried out in flesh and heart samples according to potato susceptibility to BH. Both control and discoloured samples were merged and averaged in the case of both BH susceptible stocks (20 and 23). In contrast, in year 2 phenolics were quantified in control and discoloured tissue samples separately.

Results

Chlorogenic acid was the major hydroxycinnamic acid accumulated in potato tubers. The content of chlorogenic acid varied in stocks on different sampling days.

In Year 1, flesh chlorogenic acid was ca. 2-3 times higher than in heart tissue samples of stock 20 (susceptible to BH) and stock 12 (non-susceptible to BH) while its concentration in flesh and heart of stock 23 (susceptible to BH) was about the same (Fig. 13a). Although, chlorogenic acid isomers neo- and crypto-chlorogenic acid are at very low levels in potato tubers, significant differences in both phenolic acids were observed by comparing susceptible (stock 20 and 23) and non-susceptible stocks (stock 12). Neo-chlorogenic acid was always significantly higher in flesh tissue of stock 12 (non-susceptible) when compared to stock 20 and 23 (both susceptible to BH) over storage time (Fig. 13b). Crypto-chlorogenic acid was highly accumulated in flesh tissue of stock 12 (non-susceptible) compared to both susceptible stocks (stocks 20 and 23) over storage time. Significant differences were shown between both tissue samples of stock 12 where crypto-chlorogenic acid was ca. 5 to 10 times higher in flesh than the heart tissue samples over storage time (Fig. 13c).

No statistical analysis was carried out for the rest of the hydroxycinnamic acids examined (caffeic, p-coumaric and ferulic acids) because those compounds were either undetectable or had very low abundance and quantification was unattainable. Both flavonoids rutin and quercetin-3,4-O-diglucoside were identified and quantified in some samples, mainly in flesh tissue. However, due to a high proportion of missing values no statistical analysis was attainable. There was zero abundance in isorhmanetin-3-rutinoside and isorhmanetin-3-glucoside.



Storage time (days) Storage time (days) Figure 13 Chlorogenic acid (a), neo-chlorogenic acid (b) and crypto-chlorogenic acid (c) concentrations (μ g g⁻¹ DW) in flesh and heart tissue of potato tubers cv. Maris Piper stock 20 (susceptible to BH), stock 23 (susceptible to BH) and stock 12 (non-susceptible to BH) at baseline and after storage in air only at 15°C on sampling days 0, 3 and 7. Tubers were initially stored at 1.5°C for 8, 16 and 20 weeks. Values are means (n= 3). LSDs are shown (P < 0.05).

In year 2, the levels of chlorogenic acid recorded were higher than those in year 1. Some tubers of stock 7 (susceptible to BH) developed BH symptoms. The chlorogenic acid content was highest in the heart samples (both discoloured and control) of stock 7 (susceptible to BH) (Fig. 14). Flesh tissue samples had always higher neo-chlorogenic content compared to heart tissue over storage time and in both stocks (Fig. 15).

In this experiment, phenolic content varied between year 1 and year 2 analyses; however, it was shown that chlorogenic acid and its isomers namely neo- and cryptochlorogenic acid were the most important variables differentiating potato stocks with different susceptibility to BH. It has been reported that chlorogenic acid is more accumulated in the outer tuber parts than the inner with the peel and cortex accumulating the highest content (Craft *et al.*, 1958; Zucker and Levy, 1958; Dao and Friedman, 1992; Friedman, 1997). However, in this experiment it was shown that chlorogenic acid tended to be more accumulated in the heart tissue samples of stocks susceptible to BH.



Figure 14 Chlorogenic acid unlogged and logged10 concentrations (µg g⁻¹ DW) in flesh and heart tissue of potato tubers cv. Maris Piper stock 7 (susceptible to BH) and stock 3 (non-susceptible to BH) after baseline and storage in air at 20°C. Tubers were initially stored at 1.5°C for 4, 8, 12, 16 and 20 weeks. General LSD is shown.



Figure 15 Neo-chlorogenic acid unlogged and logged10 concentrations (µg g⁻¹ DW) in flesh and heart tissue of potato tubers cv. Maris Piper stock 7 (susceptible to BH) and stock 3 (non-susceptible to BH) after baseline and storage in air at 20°C. Tubers were initially stored at 1.5°C for 4, 8, 12, 16 and 20 weeks. General LSD is shown.

2.6. Biochemical changes: aromatic amino acids

In year 1, the levels of the three amino acids quantified (tyrosine, phenylalanine and tryptophan) varied over storage time (Fig. 16).

In year 2, no statistical analysis was performed for tyrosine due to the high number of missing values. However, significant differences in phenylalanine and tryptophan content were shown (Fig. 17 and 18). In general, phenylalanine was greater in heart tissue samples but significantly higher only in those samples of stock 7 (susceptible to BH).

High phenylalanine content was observed in heart samples with BC and pith discoloration and also in control heart samples of stock 7 after 16 weeks of storage. However, the lowest phenylalanine concentrations were shown in flesh and heart samples with BC after 12 weeks of storage (Fig. 17). Tryptophan was only significantly higher in heart samples with BCL after 8 and 16 weeks of storage. No significant differences between control samples of stock 7 and stock 3 were observed (Fig. 18).



Figure 16 Tyrosine, phenylalanine and tryptophan concentrations ($\mu g g^{*}$)DW) in flesh and heart tissue of potato tubers CV. Maris Piper stock 20 (susceptible to BH), stock 23 (susceptible to BH) and stock 12 (non-susceptible to BH) at baseline and after storage in air only at 15°C on sampling days 0, 3 and 7. Tubers were initially stored at 1.5°C 8, 16 and 20 weeks. Values are means (n= 3). LSDs are shown (*P* < 0.05).



Figure 17 Phenylalanine unlogged and logged10 concentrations (µg g⁻¹ DW) in flesh and heart tissue of potato tubers cv. Maris Piper stock 7 (susceptible to BH) and stock 3 (non-susceptible to BH) after baseline (0 weeks) and storage in air at 20°C. Tubers were initially stored at 1.5°C for 4, 8, 12, 16 and 20 weeks. General LSD is shown.



Figure 18 Tryptophan unlogged and logged10 concentrations (μ g g⁻¹ DW) in flesh and heart tissue of potato tubers cv. Maris Piper stock 7 (susceptible to BH) and stock 3 (non-susceptible to BH) after baseline (0 weeks) and storage in air at 20°C. Tubers were initially stored at 1.5°C for 4, 8, 12, 16 and 20 weeks. General LSD is shown.

Overall, a conclusion on the impact of differences in amino acid accumulation on BH incidence cannot be made. This is because there was no consistent association between levels of the different amino acids and BH in the experiments. In year 1, phenylalanine was more expressed in heart samples of stock 23 (susceptible to BH) and it was more evident after 16 and 20 weeks of storage, ie the times at which stock 23 showed greater BH incidence. Additional statistical analysis (PCA plots) indicated that tryptophan was mainly accumulated in discoloured heart samples of stock 23 after 20 weeks of storage. A similar trend in tyrosine content was followed by the heart samples of stock 23 (susceptible to BH) after 16 and 20 weeks where BH incidence was greater as well. In contrast, in year 2 phenylalanine varied in content between stock 7 (susceptible to BH) and stock 3 (non- susceptible to BH). There was also no consistent trend for tryptophan, although heart samples of stock 7 showing light brown discoloration (BCL) did tend to accumulate more tryptophan.

Yao *et al.* (2005) reported that both phenylalanine and tyrosine amino acids may positively be activated by tryptophan. Deamination of phenylalanine via the enzyme phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) leads to phenylpropanoid pathway (Joos and Halbrock, 1992; Gerasimova *et al.*, 2005) by generating a large amount of secondary metabolites including phenolic compounds such as hydroxycinnamic acids and flavonoids.

2.7. Untargeted metabolomics approach

Untargeted metabolomics is a technique which allows the detection and identification of compounds in a sample. It provides information on which metabolites are the most highly concentrated in the sample (de Voss *et al.*, 2007; Patti *et al.*, 2012).

In this project, selected discoloured and control samples derived from potato stocks with different susceptibility to BH were used to identify as many as possible metabolites that might have a link with BH development. The purpose of this untargeted metabolomic approach was to find metabolic differences between discoloured and control samples derived from a BH susceptible stock.

The incidence of BH was greater in year 1 (2011-2012) than in year 2 (2012-2013) and less and more intense tissue discoloration in the heart tissue were observed and classified as (viz. BH, dark brown to black; BC, brown centre; BCL, brown centre light and pith). The descriptions were used on the assumption that less intense brown tissue discoloration may be the initial steps for the BH development (Fig. 1).

Results

Year 1

Negative ionization mode

In year 1, six samples of stock 23 (susceptible to BH) were used. In terms of the general interpretation 'discoloration only' (regardless of the tissue) quality control on samples showed that 97 reproducible metabolites remained after filtering by frequency. Further filtering followed using filter by sample variation (10%) and 30 out of 97 metabolites were left to be interpreted. PCA followed where all the possible principal components were calculated and visually represented per discoloration condition coloured-coded in a 3D scatter plot (Fig. 19). The PCA on the data showed a separation of tissue discoloration on x, y and z axis (capturing ca. 59% of the variance it total). A clear separation of BH discoloration was evident. Control and BCL discoloration were also well grouped; however, BC and pith discolorations were mixed with those conditions above mentioned (Fig. 19).



Figure 19 3D Principal Component Analysis scatter plot showing differences between tuber tissue discolorations and control of stock 23 (susceptible to BH) in negative mode (x= 27.1 %, y= 19.87%, z= 12.04%) (BC, brown centre; BCL, brown centre light; BH, dark brown to black discoloration).

Statistical analysis was performed on those 30 metabolites using Moderated ttest pairing each discoloration (BC, BCL, BH or pith) against control resulting in 19 known and unknown metabolites with a probability of P < 0.05 (95% that the metabolite was significant). Fold-change analysis was performed in order to look for significant differences between control compared with each discoloration and 13 out of 19 metabolites were either up or down regulated. According to the figure below, it was shown that 10 metabolites including two unsaturated hydroxyl-fatty acids, purine and pyrimidine related metabolites were all down regulated in discolorations when compared with the control (Fig. 20).



Figure 20 Fold change analysis results of 'discoloration only' interpretation in 'experiment A'. Metabolite regulation (log FC normalized) is shown in negative mode (BC, brown centre; BCL, brown centre light; BH, dark brown to black).

Positive ionisation mode

In year 1, 2516 known and un-known metabolites in total were detected. Comparison of all discolorations (BC, BCL, BH or pith) with control tissue and filtering by frequency reduced the number of total metabolites to 517. These were further reduced to 151 metabolites after filter by sample variability (10%). The 3D PCA on the data showed a separation of tissue discoloration on x, y and z axis (capturing ca. 53% of the variance in total) (Fig. 21). The separation of the tissue discoloration followed a similar pattern as it has also been seen in negative mode.



Figure 21 3D Principal Component Analysis scatter plot showing differences between control and tissue discolorations of stock 23 (susceptible to BH) in positive mode (x= 23.25%, y= 19.37%, z= 10.65) (BC, brown centre; BCL, brown centre light; BH, dark brown to black).

Fold change analysis indicated that 33 metabolites varied in regulation between the samples analysed. Two-way ANOVA was performed on 439 metabolites pairing BH flesh with control flesh samples and BH heart with control heart samples resulting in 26 significant metabolites (P < 0.001). Fold change analysis results showed that those 26 metabolites varied in regulation. Three fatty acids were down regulated in BH flesh samples and five metabolites including Alpha-CEHC (or 2,5,7,8-tetramethyl-2-(2'-carboxyethyl)-6-hydroxychroman; major metabolite of a-Tocopherol) were all up regulated in flesh BH samples. Similar metabolite regulations were observed in heart BH samples where fatty acids were down regulated and Alpha-CEHC and 4-oxononenal (lipid peroxidation product) were up regulated (Table 2).

			•				,	
Matabalita		logfo	BCL	logfa	BH	logfa	PITH	logfa
Metabolite	vs C	log ic	vs C	log ic	vs C log IC vs C	vs C	log fc	
1434.9309@6.42445	up	5.24	up	8.03	down	-7.89	up	8.10
1508.1241@4.6621003	down	-0.02	down	-5.40	up	11.47	down	-5.40
16,16-dimethyl-PGD2	down	-16.00	down	-16.00	down	-13.31	down	-16.00
1-Methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine N-oxide	down	-15.82	down	-5.51	down	-15.82	down	-15.82
4-Nitrotoluene	down	-3.09	down	-2.88	down	-16.39	down	-0.31
4'-Prenyloxyresveratrol	down	-3.33	down	-0.35	down	-16.45	down	-0.16
6Z-Octene-2,4-diynoic acid	down	-0.06	up	0.18	down	-10.88	up	0.26
6Z-Octene-2,4-diynoic acid + 1.3391001	up	5.46	up	15.99	down	0	up	5.45
816.8409@5.68775	up	5.28	down	0	up	16.30	down	0
817.042@5.688111	up	2.76	down	-2.56	up	13.87	down	-2.56
8-Hydroxyadenine	down	-10.98	down	-16.54	down	-16.54	down	-11.17
8-methoxy-13-hydroxy-9,11-octadecadienoic acid	down	-14.26	down	-16.95	down	-16.95	down	-11.47
9-HOTE	up	2.54	up	5.12	up	17.31	up	2.55
9S,10S,11R-trihydroxy-12Z-octadecenoic acid	down	-0.26	down	-0.36	up	1.84	down	-0.08
Adenine	down	0	down	0	up	19.28	down	0
C7 H13 N	down	-0.14	up	0.04	down	-11.17	up	0.06
C8 H9 N	up	11.86	down	-5.86	up	8.47	up	11.67

Table 2 Fold-change analysis results of 'discoloration only' interpretation in 'experiment B' of year 1. Metabolite regulation (log FC normalized) is shown in positive mode (BC, brown center; BCL, brown center light; BH, dark brown to black; C, control).

C9 H6 O3	down	-0.09	up	0.18	down	-1.24	up	0.23
Chlorogenic Acid	down	-0.16	up	0.13	down	-1.35	up	0.25
Gln Phe Gln	down	-5.38	down	-0.22	down	-15.56	down	-5.14
Lagochilin	down	-14.05	down	-16.70	down	-14.07	down	-11.32
Mometasone Furoate	up	2.71	up	2.80	up	17.77	up	2.78
N-(6-aminohexanoyl)-6-aminohexanoic acid	down	-11.42	down	-17.14	down	-0.05	down	-11.46
N-(6-aminohexanoyl)-6-aminohexanoic acid + 2.6753333	down	0	down	0	up	16.72	down	0.00
N-(6-aminohexanoyl)-6-aminohexanoic acid + 3.180625	down	-11.51	down	-17.15	down	-0.74	down	-11.49
N-Hydroxypentobarbital	up	0.03	down	-2.56	up	14.22	down	-0.01
PRIMA-1	down	-2.58	up	13.07	down	-2.58	up	0.02
Succinoadenosine	down	0	up	5.07	up	17.10	down	0
Trp Asp Gly	down	-5.16	down	-5.13	up	9.48	down	-7.76
Trp Ser Gln	up	10.32	up	16.14	down	0	up	10.44
Val Ile	down	-11.13	down	-16.62	up	0.36	down	-11.22
Val Ile + 1.5134287	down	-2.63	down	-2.63	up	14.66	down	-2.63
Val Ile + 1.953625	down	-5.28	down	-5.28	up	11.84	down	-5.28

Year 2

In year 2, 32 samples with tissue discoloration (affected) (n = 16 flesh and 16 heart) and 31 control samples (n = 15 flesh and 16 heart) of stock 7 (susceptible to BH) were used for analysis. 'Discoloration only' interpretation was carried out regardless of the tissue condition (32 affected against 31 control samples), while 'tissue vs. discoloration' interpretation was conducted comparing affected flesh samples (n = 16) against control flesh samples (n = 15) and affected heart samples (n = 16) against control heart samples (n = 16).

Negative ionization mode

1286 known and un-known metabolites in total were detected in negative mode. Firstly, in terms of the interpretation 'discoloration only' regardless tissue condition (affected against control samples of stock 7), quality control on samples showed only 67 out of 1286 metabolites remained after filtering by frequency with sample variability of less than 25%. However, those 67 metabolites were not statistically different.

Secondly, interpreting 'tissue vs. discoloration' conditions filtering by frequency reduced the number of total metabolites to 124 based on a sample variation of less than 25%. According to PCA, almost 42% of the variance in total showed on x, y and z axis. A clear separation of tuber tissue was observed on x axis capturing ca. 23% of the variance (Fig. 22). However, a clear separation between affected and control samples was not distinguished.



Figure 22 3D Principal Component Analysis scatter plot showing differences between affected and control tissue samples of stock 7 (susceptible to BH) in negative mode (A= affected, control = no discoloration) (x= 22.66%, y= 13.34%, z= 5.98%).

Positive ionization mode

2071 known and un-known metabolites were identified in positive mode. Interpreting the 'discoloration' condition (regardless of tissue condition), quality control showed that those 2071 metabolites were reduced to 268 using filter by frequency with a coefficient of variation of less than 25% (data not shown). Nevertheless, Moderated T-test showed no significant differences.

Regarding the interpretation between 'tissue vs. discoloration' conditions, frequency filtering resulted in 370 out of 2071 metabolites that they were additionally filtered by sample variability (10%) and finally reduced to 47. PCA on data showed a clear separation between tuber tissue only, capturing almost 66% of the variance in total (Fig 23).



Figure 23 3D Principal Component Analysis scatter plot showing differences between affected and control tissue samples of stock 7 (susceptible to BH) in positive mode (A = affected, control = no discoloration) (x= 45.07%, y= 13.12%, z= 7.65%).

Overall, according to the 3D PCA scatter plots a good separation of samples having different tissue discolorations with intensity BH > BC > BCL > pith > control based on a coefficient of variation of 10% was observed in both ion modes in year 1. However, a relationship between more intense (BH) and less intense tissue discolorations as initiators of BH could not be confirmed as the metabolite identification and regulation did not show a similar pattern in less intense brown discolorations (BC, BCL and pith) compared to control samples. That might have happened due to low sample replication.

Generally, most of the known metabolites identified were fatty acids and also a plethora of unknown metabolites was observed.

Evidence of cell membrane lipid peroxidation and tissue damage was observed as unsaturated hydroxyl-fatty acids and lipid peroxidation products were identified. In addition, the fact that some of the unsaturated hydroxyl-fatty acids were present in control samples indicates that the cold storage temperature contributed to tissue cell membrane deterioration as all the samples analysed have been stored for more than 16 weeks at 1.5°C. This metabolite regulation might be related with response to stress and defence against ROS attack as result to cold storage temperature (Sen, 2012).

Metabolomic differences between control samples of potato stocks with different susceptibility to BH were seen. In both years' analysis, 3D PCA scatter plots showed a clear separation according to potato stock susceptibility to BH and significant regulations of known secondary metabolites such as glycoalkaloids, flavonoids and other phenylpropanoid related metabolites were observed.

Flavonoids and steroidal glycoalkaloids both represent important groups of the secondary metabolism in plants and have extensively been studied in potatoes before (Harbone, 1959; Bostock *et al.*, 1982; Cantwell, 1996; Lewis *et al.*, 1998; Friedman *et al.*, 2006; Payyavula *et al.*, 2012, 2013). A-chaconine and a-solanine are the principal glycoalkaloids in potatoes accounting ca. 95% of the total glycoalkaloids, distributed in all parts of the potato plant and their content varies in the potato tuber [(peel > cortex > flesh – pith (not detectable)].

In year 1, differences in glycoalkaloid content between control samples of stock 23 (susceptible to BH) and stock 12 (non-susceptible to BH) were shown. A down regulation of a-chaconine was observed in those samples of stock 23 regardless of the tissue. On the other hand, solanine, solanidine and solasonine (another aglycone) were up regulated in flesh control samples of stock 12. Also, solanine and solanidine were up regulated in heart tissue samples of stock 12, but solasonine did not show any changes. In addition, no changes in glycoalkaloid content in heart control samples of stock 23 were observed. Jadhav *et al.* (1980) reported that total glycoalkaloid content was increased in potatoes cvs. Russet Burbank, Norgold Russet and Pontiac with slight and severe BH and hollow heart (HH) incidence due to tissue damaged caused by BH and HH, but concluded that these were less potent factors stimulating the glycoalkaloid synthesis compared to other factors as light and mechanical injury. Glycoalkaloids are localized and accumulated in the vacuoles and the cytoplasm and may be transferred if the tissue is damaged (Väänänen, 2007). In this experiment (year 1), the results referred

43

to are those where unaffected tissues of stocks considered BH susceptible were compared with unaffected tissue from stocks considered susceptible to BH. No indications of glycoalkaloid accumulation in discoloured samples were observed. In year 2, there were no significant regulations of glycoalkaloids between those control samples of Maris Piper stocks [stock 7 (susceptible to BH) and stock 3 (non- susceptible to BH)].

Flavonoids were identified in tissue samples in both years of this work. Flavonoid pathway biosynthesis is initiated enzymatically by chalcone synthase catalysis and the pathway further proceeds with several enzymatic steps to other subclasses of flavonoids (Schijlen, 2007). It has been reported that most of the flavonoids are present as glycosides synthesised by glycosylation namely a sugar attached to the aglyone using glycoyltransferases (Kim et al., 2006, 2013; Aksamit-Stachurska et al., 2008; Simkhada et al., 2010). In year 1 analysis, two polyhydroxyflavones [(hibiscetin or 3,5,7,8-tetrahydroxy-2-(3,4,5-trihydroxy phenyl) chromen-4-one and 5,7,3',4',5'pentahydroxy-3,6,8-trimethoxyflavone] showed an up regulation in those control samples of stock 23 (susceptible to BH) when compared with those control samples of stock 12 (non-susceptible to BH). In year 2, up regulation of quercetin-3-glucoside-7rutinoside, quercetin-3-glucoside-7-rhamnoside (both diglycosides) and myricetin-3rutinoside was observed in those flesh and heart samples of stock 3 (non-susceptible to BH) compared to flesh and heart samples of stock 7 (susceptible to BH). Similarly, quercetin-3-glucoside-7-rutinoside, myricetin-3-rutinoside, quercetin-3-rutinoside (or rutin) and two other flavonoids 3,5,7,2',5'-pentahydroxyflavone and 3,5,7,2',5'pentahydroxyflavone + 5.129875 were all up regulated in stock 3 (non-susceptible to BH) regardless the tissue. Rutin (quercetin-3-rutinoside), myricetin-3-glucoside and similar flavonol glycosides and diglycosides identified in year 2 analysis have previously been reported in white and coloured potatoes (Lewis et al., 1998; Navarre et al., 2011; Payyavula et al., 2012, 2013).

Furthermore, 4-oxoproline which is involved in proline metabolism showed down regulation in stock 23 (susceptible to BH) in year 1. It has been suggested that proline may be accumulated in plants as a physiological response against to biotic and abiotic stress and might influence the adaptive responses to the stressors and its accumulation may provide protection of cell function, membrane and enzyme activity (Cheynier *et al.*, 2009).

The identification of flavonoid compounds in both years, and that of phenylalanine and quinic acid in year 1, suggest differences in gene expression and regulation of the phenylpropanoid compounds and their biosynthetic pathway. A down regulation of the known quinic acid which is a key metabolite for chlorogenic acid synthesis was observed in stock 23 (susceptible to BH). Phenylalanine which is the precursor for the phenylpropanoid and flavonoid pathway did not show any changes in flesh samples of stock 12 when compared with flesh samples of stock 23 and it was down regulated in heart samples of stock 12 compared to heart samples of stock 23. Targeted analysis of phenolic compounds showed that phenylalanine tended to be more accumulated in those heart samples of susceptible to BH stocks. Furthermore, rutin and quercetin-3,4-O-diglucoside showed greater accumulation in some flesh samples of stock 12 (nonsusceptible to BH) in year 1 and in both tissues of stock 3 (non-susceptible to BH) in year 2.

It has been reported that storage at cold temperatures triggers the PAL activity and those enzymes involved in the phenylpropanoid and flavonoid pathway in order the phenolic compounds to be accumulated (Cheynier *et al.*, 2009). This might explain differences in phenylalanine gene expression between susceptible and non-susceptible to BH stocks after storage at cold temperatures (1.5°C) indicating different response and adaptation to a cold-induced stress. On the other hand, it is unknown whether the synthesis of those phenylpropanoid compounds was due to a pre-existing PAL or a *de novo* synthesis of the enzyme.

3. CONCLUSIONS

The work described in this report was a component of a larger project investigating blackheart. The project also included trials at SBCSR. Those trials lead to the development of a method to induce blackheart which can be used on a commercial scale to assess the likelihood that stocks will develop blackheart symptoms. The method was also used to select stocks for more detailed biochemical and physiological studies (as described in this report). However, this proved problematic. Although the induction method will be useful in a commercial context, not all tubers within a stock designated as blackheart susceptible will ultimately develop symptoms of the condition. This has imposed limitations on the conclusions that can be drawn from this work. This is because the number of tubers (from a stock) which can be studied using the detailed biochemical and physiological techniques is limited and as such often meant that in the absence of a method to reliably induce blackheart in 100% of tubers of a susceptible stock, the researchers were forced to work with tubers that never developed blackheart symptoms. As such it has been difficult to draw firm conclusions about the factors which

contribute to or are characteristic of blackheart symptom expression. Based on the information that is available the conclusions are:

- Cold initial temperature (1.5°C) was the main factor influencing both respiration rate and compositional changes in potato tubers from stocks with different susceptibility to BH.
- A relation between respiration rate and BH could not be made.
- The temperature and exposure period in which BH shows greater incidence could not readily be predicted. It is still unclear whether brown tissue discolorations seen in this project were stimulated or induced at very low initial storage temperature and then exacerbated during shelf-life evaluation at either 15 or 20°C.
- Similarities in biochemical changes between susceptible and non-susceptible BH stocks were observed in both years 1 and 2.
- Sugars tended to be more accumulated in the BH susceptible stocks compared to the non-susceptible stocks.
- Chlorogenic acid was highly accumulated in both control and discoloured samples of susceptible to BH stocks.
- Untargeted metabolomics lead to the identification of differences in chemical composition between samples of tissues with blackheart symptoms and those without (and between tubers from stocks designated as blackheart susceptible and those designated as non-susceptible). The differences were more pronounced in year 1 of the work. A larger number of samples were analysed in year 2 of the study and further biochemical research is needed in order to understand how differences in the composition/quantity of metabolites between tissue samples are related to blackheart susceptibility.

4. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

AHDB for financial support for the PhD studentship awarded to Elsa Kiaitsi and Sutton Bridge Crop Storage Research for use of their storage facilities.

5. RELEVANT LITERATURE

Abdul-Baki, A.A. and Solonmos, T. (1994). Diffusivity of Carbon Dioxide through the Skin and Flesh of 'Russet Burbank' Potato Tubers. *J. AMER. SOC. HORT. SCI. 119(4):742–746.*

Adamo, P., Zampella, M., Quétel, C.R., Aversano, R., Dal Piaz, F., De Tommasi, N., Frusciante, L., Iorizzo, M., Lepore, L., Carputo, D. (2012). Biological and geochemical markers of the geographical origin and genetic identity of potatoes. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration.*

Adams, J.B. and Brown, H.M. (2007). Discoloration in Raw and Processed Fruits and Vegetables.

Aksamit-Stachurska, A., Korobczak-Sosna, A., Kulma, A. and Szopa, J. (2008). Glycosyltransferase efficiently controls phenylpropanoid pathway. *BMC Biotechnology* 2008, 8:25 doi:10.1186/1472-6750-8-25.

Al-Hashimi, A.G., (2012). Antioxidant and antibacterial activities of *Hibiscus* sabdariffa L. extracts. *African Journal of Food Science Vol.* 6(21) pp. 506-511. Aliferis, K. A. and Jabaji, S. (2012). FT-ICR/MS and GC-EI/MS Metabolomics Networking Unravels Global Potato Sprout's Responses to Rhizoctonia solani Infection. *PLoS ONE* 7(8): e42576. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0042576.

Allwood, J.W., Ellis, D.I. and Goodacre, R. (2008). Metabolomic technologies and their application to the study of plants and plant–host interactions. *Physiologia Plantarum* 132: 117–135. 2008.

André, Ch.M., Oufir, M., Guignard, C., Hoffmann, L., Husman, J.F., and Evers, D., Larondelle, Y. (2007). Antioxidant profiling of native Andean potato tubers (Solanum 220

tuberosum L.) reveals cultivars with high levels of b-carotene, a-tocopherol, chlorogenic acid, and petanin. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 55: 10839–10849.*

André, Ch.M., Schafleitner, R., Legay S., Lefèvre I., Aliaga C.A.A., Nomberto G., Hoffmann L., Hausman J.F., Larondelle Y., Evers D. (2009b). Gene expression changes related to the production of phenolic compounds in potato tubers grown under drought stress. *Phytochemistry*, 70: 1107–1116.

Bachem, C.W.B., Speckmann, G.J., van der Linde, P.C.G., Verhaggen, F.T.M., Hunt, M.D. and Zabeau, M. (1994). Antisense expression of polyphenoloxidase genes inhibits enzymatic browning of potato tubers. Biotechnology 12:1101–1127. Baijal, B.D. and Van Vliet, W.F. (1966). The chemical composition in different parts of the potato tuber during storage. *Eur. Potato J., I/ol. 9 (1966) No. 3 (Sept.).*

Banks, N.H. and Kays, S.J. (1988). Measuring internal gases and lenticel resistance to gas diffusion in potato tubers. J. Amer. Soc. Hort. Sci. 113:577–580.

Barker, J. (1936). The influence of the carbon dioxide and oxygen in the atmosphere on the

sugar content and sprouting of potatoes. *Rep. Fd Invest Bd for 1935*, 118-123. **Bartholomew, E.J. (1916).** A phytopathological and physiological study of black-heart of potatoes. *Centralbl. Bawt. 43, 609.*

Beaudry, R.M. (2000). Responses of Horticultural Commodities to Low Oxygen: Limits to the Expanded Use of Modified Atmosphere Packaging. *HorTechnology July– September 2000 10(3).*

Beckmann, M., Enot, D.P., Overy, D.P. and DRAPER, J. (2007). Representation, Comparison, and Interpretation of Metabolome Fingerprint Data for Total Composition Analysis and Quality Trait Investigation in Potato Cultivars. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2007, 55, 3444-3451. 221 Blenkinsop, R.W., Copp, L.J., Yada, R.Y., Marangoni, **A.G. (2003).** A proposed role for the anaerobic pathway during low temperature sweetening in tubers of *Solanum tuberosum*. *Physiol. Plant. 118*: 206-212.

Bologa, K.L., Fernie A.R., Leisse, A., Ehlers Loureiro, M. and Geigenberger, P. (2003). A Bypass of Sucrose Synthase Leads to Low Internal Oxygen and Impaired Metabolic Performance in Growing Potato Tubers. *Plant Physiology, August 2003, Vol. 132, pp. 2058–2072.*

Bostock, R.M., Nuckles, E., Henfling, J.W.D.M. and Kuc, J.A. (1983). Effects of potato tuber age and storage on sesquiterpenoid stress metabolite accumulation, steroid glycoalkaloid accumulation, and response to abscisic and arachidonic acids. *Phytopahtology* 73:435 – 438.

Brown, C.R. (2005). Antioxidants in potatoes. Amer J of Potato Res (2005) 82:163-172.

Burton, W.G. (1958). The effect of the concentrations of carbon dioxide and oxygen in the storage atmosphere upon the sprouting of potatoes at 10 C. *European Potato Journal* 1, 47-57.

Burton, W.G. (1965). The permeability to oxygen of the periderm of the potato tuber. *Journal of Experimental Botany 16, 16-23.*

Burton, W.G. (1968). The effect of oxygen concentration upon sprout growth on the potato tuber. *European Potato Journal 2, 249-265.*

Burton, W.G. and Wigginton, M.J. (1970). The effect of a film of water upon the oxygen status of a potato tuber. *Potato Research 13, 180-186.*

Bussan, A.J. (2007). The Canon of Potato Science: 45. Brown Centre and Hollow Heart. *Potato Research (2007) 50:395–398.*

Butchbaker, A.F., Nelson, D.C. and Shaw, R. (1967). Controlled-Atmosphere Storage of Potatoes. ASAE vol. 10, no 4, pp: 534 – 538. 222

Cantwell, M. (1995). A Review of Important Facts about Potato Glycoalkaloids. *Perishables Handling Newsletter Issue No. 87 Page 26.*

Carreno-Quintero, N., Acharjee, A., Maliepaard, C., Bachem, C.W.B., Mumm, R., Bouwmeester, H., Visser, R.G.F., Keurentjes J.J.B. (2012). Untargeted metabolic quantitative trait loci (mQTL) analyses reveal a relationship between primary metabolism and potato tuber quality. *Plant Physiology Preview. Published on January 5*, 2012, as DOI:10.1104/pp.111.188441.

Catchpole, G.S., Beckmann, M., Enot, D.P., Mondhe, M., Zywicki, B., Taylor, J., Hardy, N., Smith, A., King, R.D., Kell, D.B., Fiehn, O., Draper, J. (2005). Hierarchical metabolomics demonstrates substantial compositional similarity between genetically modified and conventional potato crops. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102*.

14458-14462.

Cheynier, V., Sarni-Manchado, P., and Quideau, S. (2009). Recent Advances in Polyphenol Research. *Volume 3, Chapter 8.*

Corey, K.A. and Tan Z. (1990). Induction of Changes in Internal Gas Pressure of Bulky Plant Organs by Temperature Gradients. *J. AMER. SOC. HORT. SCI. 115(2):308-312.*

Coria, N.A, Sarquís, J.I. and Granados, C. (2011). Effects of a-solanine, achaconine and solanidine on the growth of *in vitro* cultured potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) seedlings. *Tropical and Subtropical Agroecosystems, 14 (2011): 323 -330*

Correa, P., Bernal, L., Coello, P., and Martínez-Barajas, E. (2012). Oxidized Glutathione Promotes the Association of Proteins from Bean Seeds to Potato Starch. *J. Mex. Chem. Soc. 2012, 56(1), 32-35.*

Corsini, D.L., Pavek, J.J., Dean, B. (1992). Differences in free and protein-bound tyrosine among potato genotypes and the relationship to internal blackspot resistance. *Am Potato J 69:423–435* 223

Cottrell, J.E., Duffus, C.M., Paterson, L., Mackay, G.R., Allison M. J. and Bain, H. (1993). The effect of storage temperature on reducing sugar concentration and the activities of three amylolytic enzymes in tubers of the cultivated potato, *Solanum tuberosum* L. *Potato Research 36 (1993) 107-117.*

Craft, C.C., Siegelman, H.W. and Butler, W.L. (1958). Study of the phenolic compounds in potato tubers during storage. *American Potato Journal, volume 35, pp: 651-660.*

Craft, C.C. (1963). Respiration of potatoes as influenced by previous storage temperature *American Potato Journal, volume 40, pp: 290-298.*

Crumbly, I.J., Nelson, D.C. and Duysen, E. (1973). Relationships of Hollow Heart in Irish potatoes to carbohydrate reabsorption and growth rate of tubers. *American Potato Journal, volume 50, pp: 266-274.*

De Vos, R.C.H., Mocol, S., Arjen Lommen, A., Keurentjes, J.B.J., Raoul J Bino1, J., Hall, R.D. (2007). Untargeted large-scale plant metabolomics using liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry. *Nat Protoc.* 2007;2(4):778-91. Dale, M.F.B., Griffiths, D.W. and Todd, D.T. (2003). Effects of genotype, environment, and postharvest storage on the total ascorbate content of potato (Solanum tuberosum) tubers. *J Agric Food Chem* 51:244-248.

Dao, L. and Freidman, M. (1992). Chlorogenic acid content of fresh and processed potato determined by ultraviolet spectroscopy. *J Agric Food Chem 40:2152-2156.* **Davies, A.M.C. (1977).** The free amino acids of tubers of potato varieties grown in England and Ireland. *Potato Res. 20 (1977): 9 21. 224*

Davies, H.V. and Monk-Talbot, L.S. (1990). Permeability characteristics and membrane lipid composition of potato tuber cultivars in relation to Ca2++ deficiency. *Phytochemistry* 29.2833-2835.

Davies, H.M. (1998). Physiological Mechanisms Associated With the Development of Internal Necrotic Disorders of Potato. *Amer J of Potato Res (1998) 75:37-44.*

Davies, H.V. (2007). Metabolomics: Applications in Functional Biodiversity Analysis in Potato. *VIth International Solanaceae Conference Eds.: D.M. Spooner et al. Acta Hort.* 745, ISHS 2007.

Davis, W.B. (1928). Physiological investigation of black heart of potato tuber. *Botanical Gazette 81, 323.*

Defernez, M., Gunning, Y.M., Parr, A.J, Shepherd, L.V.T., Davies, H.V. and Colquhoun, I.J. (2004). NMR and HPLC-UV Profiling of Potatoes with Genetic Modifications to Metabolic Pathways. *J. Agric. Food Chem. 2004, 52, 6075-6085.* Devaux, H. (1890). Atmosphere interne des tubercules et racines tuberculeuses. *Bull. Soc. bot. Fr. 37, 272.*

Dewick, P.M. (2002). The Shikimate Pathway: Aromatic Amino Acids and Phenylpropanoids. *Medicinal Natural Products., Chapter 4, pp: 121-165.*

Dinkel, D.H. (1963). Chlorogenic acid associated with physiological internal necrosis of potato tubers. *American Potato Journal 40, 149.*

Dipierro, S. and De Leonardis, S. (1997). The ascorbate system and lipid peroxidation in stored potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) tubers. *Journal of Experimental Botany, Vol. 48, No. 308, pp. 779-783.*

Dobson, G., Shepherd, T., Marshall, R., Verrall, S.R., Conner, S., Griffiths, D.W., McNicol, J.W., Stewart, D. and Davies, H.V. (2007). Application of metabolite and flavour profiling to studies of biodiversity in Solanum species. *In Concepts in Plant* 225 *Metabolomics;Nikolau, B. J., Wurtele, E. S., Eds.; Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands,2007; pp* 259-268. Dobson, G., Shepherd, T., Verrall, S.R., Conner, S., McNicol, J.W., Ramsay, G., Shepherd, L.V.T., Davies, H.V. and Stewart, D. (2008). Phytochemical diversity in tubers of potato cultivars and landraces using a GC-MS metabolomics approach. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2008, *56*, 10280–10291.

Dobson, G., Shepherd, T., Verrall, S.R., Griffiths, W.D. Ramsay, G., McNicol, J.W., Davies, H.V. and Stewart, D. (2010). A Metabolomics Study of Cultivated Potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) Groups Andigena, Phureja, Stenotomum, and Tuberosum Using Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry. *J. Agric. Food Chem. 2010, 58, 1214–1223.*

Dunn, W.B. and Ellis, D.I. (2005). Metabolomics: Current analytical platforms and methodologies. *Trends in Analytical Chemistry, Vol. 24, No. 4, 2005.*

Duplessis, P.M., Alejandro G. Marangoni, A.G. and Rickey Y. Yada, R.Y. (1996). A mechanism for low temperature induced sugar accumulation in stored potatoes: The potential role of the alternative pathway and invertase. *American Potato Journal, vol.* 73, 483-494.

Dwelle, R.B. and Stallknecht, G.F. (1978). Respiration and sugar content of potato tubers as influenced by storage temperature. *American Potato Journal, vol. 55, 561-571.*

Elbatawi, I.E. (2008). An acoustic impact method to detect hollow heart of potato tubers. *Biosystems Engineering, 100 (2008) 206 – 213.*

El-Saeidy, M., El-Sherif, G. and Hameed, A.A.K. (2014). New Sauce Products from Some Natural Plant Sources. *Middle East Journal of Applied Sciences* 4(1): 1-5, 2014. 226

Evers, D. and Deußer, H. (2009). Potato Antioxidant Compounds: Impact of Cultivation Methods and Relevance for Diet and Health. *InTechOpen, "Nutrition, Well-Being and Health", Chapter 5.*

Fennir, M.A. and Raghavan, G.S.V. (2002). Respiration rates of healthy and diseased potatoes under experimental storage. *AIC 2002 Meeting CSAE/SCGR Program, Paper No. 02-402.*

Fennir, M.A., Landry, J.A. and Raghavan, G.S.V. (2003). Respiration rate of potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) measured in a two-bin research scale storage facility, using heat and moisture balance and gas analysis techniques. *CANADIAN BIOSYSTEMS ENGINEERING, vol. 45.*

Fernandes, J.B., Griffiths, D.W., Bain, H. Fernandes, F.A.N. (1996). The development and evaluation of capillary electrophoretic methods for the determination of the major phenolic constituents of potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) tubers. *Phytochem. Anal.* 1996, 7, 253–258.

Ferreira de Sousa, C.A. and Sodek, L. (2002). The metabolic response of plants to oxygen deficiency. *Braz. J. Plant Physiol.*, 14(2):83-94.

Ferreira, S.J., Senning, M., Sonnewald, S., Keßling, PM., Goldstein, R. and Sonnewald, U. (2010). Comparative transcriptome analysis coupled to X-ray CT reveals sucrose supply and growth velocity as major determinants of potato tuber starch biosynthesis. *BMC Genomics 2010, 11:93.*

Fiehn, O., Kopka, J., Dörmann, P., Altmann, T., Trethewey, R.N. and Willmitzer, L. (2000b). Metabolite profiling for plant functional genomics. *Nature Biotechnol.* 18: 1157–116. 227 Finney, E.E. Jr. and Norris, K.H. (1978). X-Ray scans for detecting hollow heart in potatoes. *American Potato Journal, vol.* 95, pp: 95-105.

Fonseca, S.C., Oliveira, F.A.R, Lino, I.B.M., Brecht, J.K. and Chau, K.V. (2000). Modelling O2 and CO2 exchange for development of perforation mediated modified atmosphere packaging. *Journal of Food Engineering 43 (2000) 9-15.* Friedman, M. (1997). Chemistry, biochemistry, and dietary role of potato polyphenols: A review. J. Agric. Food Chem. 1997, 45, 1523–1540.

Friedman, M. (2006). Potato Glycoalkaloids and Metabolites: Roles in the Plant and in the Diet. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2006, 54, 8655-8681.

Friedman, M., Mackey, B.E., Kim, H.J., Lee, I.S., Lee, K.R., Lee, S.U., Kozukue, E., and Kozukue, N. (2007). Structure-activity relationships of tea compounds against human cancer *cells. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2007, 55, 243–253.*

Gancarz, M., Konstankiewicz, K., Pawlak. K. and Zdunek, A. (2007). Analysis of plant tissue images obtained by confocal tandem scanning reflected light microscope. *Int. Agrophysics*, *21*, *49*-53.

Gancarz, M., Konstankiewicz, K. and Zgórska, K. (2014). Cell orientation in potato tuber parenchyma tissue. *Int. Agrophys., 2014, 28, 15-22.*

Gast, K.L.B. (1991). Storage conditions. Fruits and vegetables. Postharvest Management of Commercial Horticultural Crops. *Kansas State University Agricultural Experiment Station and Cooperative Extension Service. MF-978, Horticulture–11* (commercial) 3-91–2M; 3-98–300. 228

Geigenberger, P., Fernie, A.R., Gibon, Y., Christ, M. and Stitt, M. (2000). Metabolic activity decreases as an adaptive response to low internal oxygen in growing potato tubers. *Biol Chem* 381: 723–74.

Geigenberger, P. (2003): Response of plant metabolism to too little oxygen. *Curr Opin Plant Biol 6: 247–256.*

Genga, A., Mattana, M., Coraggio, I., Locatelli, F., Piffanelli, P. and Consonni, R. (2008). Plant Metabolomics: A Characterisation of Plant Responses to Abiotic Stresses. *InTechOpen, "Abiotic Stress in Plants - Mechanisms and Adaptations", Chapter 14.*

Gerasimova, N.G., Pridvorova, S.M. and Ozeretskovskaya, O.L. (2005). Role of L-Phenylalanine Ammonia Lyase in the Induced Resistance and Susceptibility of Potato Plants. *Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology, Vol. 41, No. 1, 2005, pp. 103–105.*

Gobel, C., Feussner, I. and Rosahl, S. (2003). Lipid Peroxidation during the Hypersensitive Response in Potato in the Absence of 9-Lipoxygenases. *THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY Vol. 278, No. 52, Issue of December 26, pp. 52834–52840.*

Gorter, A. and Nadort, W. (1941). Composition of Gas in the Intercellular Spaces of Potatoes. *Proc. Acad.Sci. Amst.*44, 1112.

Gosselin, B. and Mondy, N.I. (1989). Effect of packaging materials on the chemical composition of potatoes. *Journal of Food Science*. *54, 629-631.*

Gunter, D. (2002). Calcium fertilization and potatoes. Agricultural Advisor, Kynoch Fertilizers (Pty) Ltd Calcium sources. *CHIPS 38, Maart/April, 2002.*

Hall, R.D. (2002). Plant Metabolomics: The Missing Link in Functional Genomics Strategies. *The Plant Cell, Vol. 14, 1437.* 229

Hall, R.D. (2005). Plant metabolomics: from holistic hope, to hype, to hot topic. *Tansley review. New Phytologist (2006) 169: 453–468.*

Hamberg, M and Hamberg, G. (1996). Peroxygenase-Catalyzed Fatty Acid Epoxidation in

Cereal Seeds. Plant Physiol. (1 996) 1 1 O: 807-815.

Hamouz, K., Lachman, J., Hejtmánková, K., Pazderů, K., Čížek, M. and Dvořák, P. (2010). Effect of natural and growing conditions on the content of phenolics in potatoes with different flesh colour. *PLANT SOIL ENVIRON.*, *56*, 2010 (8): 368–374.
Han, L., Dutilleul, P., Prasher, S.O., Beaulieu, C. and Smith, D.L. (2008).
Assessment of Common Scab-Inducing Pathogen Effects on Potato Underground

Organs Via Computed Tomography Scanning. *The American Phytopathological Society, Vol. 98, No. 10, 2008, 1118-1125.*

Harborne, J.B. (1959). The chromatography of the flavonoid pigments. *J Chromatogr* 2 581È604..

Harvey, R.B. (1937). The X-ray inspection of internal defects of fruit and vegetables. *Am. Potato J.* 35:156-157.

Hasegawa, S., Johnson, R.M. and Gould, W.A. (1967). Effect of Cold Storage on Chlorogenic Acid Content of Potatoes. J. AGR. FOOD CHEM. vol. 14, no. 2, pp: 165-169.

Herrmann, K.M. (1995). The Shikimate Pathway: Early Steps in the Biosynthesis of Aromatic Compounds. *The Plant Cell, Vol. 7, 907-919.*

Hiller, L.K., and R.E. Thornton. (2008). Managing physiological disorders. In: Potato Health Management. *APS Press, St. Paul, Minn.*

Himmelblau, D.M. (1985). Diffusion of dissolved gases in liquids. *Chem. Rev. 64:* 527-550

Ho, Q. T., Verlinden, B.E., Verboven, P., Vandewalle, S. and Nicolai, B.M. (2006). A permeation-diffusion-reaction model of gas transport in cellular tissue of plant materials. *Journal of Experimental Botany 57, 4215-4224.* 230

Ho. Q.T., Verlinden. B.E., Verboven, P. and Nicolai, B.M. (2006). Gas diffusion properties at different positions in the pear. *Postharvest Biol Technol 41: 113–120.*

Ho, Q.T., Verlinden, B.E., Verboven, P., Vandewalle, S. and Nicolai, B.M. (2007). Simultaneous measurement of oxygen and carbon dioxide diffusivities in pear fruit tissue using optical sensors. J Sci Food Agr 87: 1858–1867.

Ho, Q.T., Verboven, P., Verlinden, B.E. and Nicolai, B.M. (2010). A model for gas transport in pear fruit at multiple scales. *Journal of Experimental Botany, Page 1 of 11.* Ho, Q.T., Verboven, P., Verlinden, B.E., Herremans, E., Wevers, M., Carmeliet, J. and Nicolai, B.M. (2011). A Three-Dimensional Multiscale Model for Gas Exchange in

Fruit. Plant Physiology, March 2011, Vol. 155, pp. 1158–1168.

Hodges, D.M. (2003). Oxidative stress. Postharvest oxidative stress in horticultural crops.

Hooker, W.J. (1981). Compendium of Potato Diseases.

Ieri, F., Innocenti, M., Andrenelli, L., Vecchio, V. and Mulinacci, N. (2014). Rapid HPLC/DAD/MS method to determine phenolic acids, glycoalkaloids and anthocyanins in pigmented potatoes (Solanum tuberosum L.) and correlations with variety and geographical origin. *Food Chemistry 125 (2011) 750–759.*

Im, H.W., Suh, B-S., Lee, S.U., Kozukue, N., Ohnisi-Kameyama, M., Levin, C.E., Friedman, M. (2008). Analysis of phenolic compounds by high-performance liquid chromatography and liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry in potato plant flowers, leaves, stems, and tubers and in home-processes potatoes. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry.* 56, 3341-3349. 231

Jadhav, S.J., Wu, M.T. and Salunkhe, D.K. (1980). Glycoalkaloids of Hollow Heart and Blackheart Potato Tubers. *HortScience* 15(2):147-148.

Jansky, S.H. and Fajardo, D.A. (2014). Tuber starch amylose content is associated with cold-induced sweetening in potato. *Food Science & Nutrition 2014; 2(6): 628–633.*

Joos, H.J. and Hahlbrock, K. (1992). Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase in potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) Genomic complexity, structural comparison of two selected genes and modes of expression. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 204,621 -629.

Kader, A.A. (2003). Physiology of CA Treated Produce. Proc. 8th Int. CA Conference.

Kaul, A.D., Kumar, P., Hooda, V. and Sonkusare, A. (2010). Biochemical behaviour of different cultivars of potato tuber at different storage conditions. *NCCI 2010* - *National Conference on Computational Instrumentation CSIO Chandigarh, INDIA, 19-20 March 2010.*

Kawakami, S., Mizuno, M. and Tsuchida, H. (2000). Comparison of antioxidant enzyme activities between Sola~um tuberosum L. cultivars Danshaku and Kitaakari during low-temperature storage. *J Agric Food Chem* 48:2117-2121.

Khan, M.S. Munir, I. and Khan, I. (2013). The potential of unintended effects in potato glycoalkaloids. *African Journal of Biotechnology Vol.* 12(8), pp. 754-766.

Khanal, B. and Uprety, D. (2014). Effects of Storage Temperature on Post-harvest of Potato. *International Journal of Research (IJR) Vol-1, Issue-7, August 2014.*

Khanbari, O.S. and Thompson, A.K. (1994). The effect of controlled atmosphere storage at 4oC on crisp colour and on sprout growth, rotting and weight loss of potato tubers. *Potato Research 37 (1994) 291 -300.* 232

Kidd, F. (1919). Laboratory experiments on the sprouting of potatoes in various gas mixtures (nitrogen and carbon dioxide). *New Phytologist 18, 248-252.*

Kim, J.H., Jangb, Y. and Hou, C.T. (2002). Effect of metal ions on the production of isomeric 9,10,13 (9,12,13)-trihydroxy-11E (10E)-octadecenoic acid from linoleic acid by Pseudomonas aeruginosa PR3. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology 30 (2002) 752–757.*

Kim, J.H., Kim, B.G., Park, Y., Ko, J.H., Lim, C.E., Lim, J., Lim, Y. and Ahn, J.H. (2006). Characterization of flavonoid 7-O-glucosyltransferase from Arabidopsis thaliana. Biosci *Biotechnol Biochem. 2006 Jun;70(6):1471-7.*

Kim, H.J., Kim, B.G. and Ahn, J.H. (2013). Regioselective synthesis of flavonoid bisglycosides using Escherichia coli harboring two glycosyltransferases. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol (2013)* 97:5275–5282.

Kleinkopf, G.E. (1995). Early season storage 1. American Journal of Potato Research 72, 449-462.

Koch, K.E. (1996). Carbohydrate-modulated gene expression in plants. *Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 47:509–540.*

Konstankiewicz, K., Czachor, H., Gancarz, M., Król, A., Pawlak, K. and Zdunek, A. (2002). Cell structural parameters of potato tuber tissue. *Int. Agrophysics, 2002, 16, 119-127.*

Kreft, S., Pompe, M., Maja Ravnikar, M., Umek, A. and Strukelj, B. (1999).
Accumulation Rate of Rutin is Decreased after Infection of Susceptible Potato Cultivar with PVY. *Phyton (Austria) Special issue: "Plant Physiology" Vol. 39 Fasc. 3, 259-264.*Kröner, A. Marnet N., Andrivon, D. and Florence Val, F. (2012). Nicotiflorin, rutin and chlorogenic acid: phenylpropanoids involved differently in quantitative resistance of potato tubers to biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 57 (2012) 23-31.* 233 Külen, O., Stushnoff, C. and Holm, D.G. (2013).
Effect of cold storage on total phenolics content, antioxidant activity and vitamin C level of selected potato clones. *J Sci Food Agric. 2013 Aug 15;93(10):2437-44.*Kumar Chaurasia, M. (2009). Efficient design, operation, maintenance and management of cold storage. *Journal of Biological Sciences, vol. 1, Issue 1.*Kumar, D. (2011). Cold-induced sweetening development in Indian potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) varieties. *Indian Journal of Biochemistry and Biophysics, vol.48, April 2011, pp:123-127.*

Kusano. M and Saito, K. (2012). Role of Metabolomics in Crop Improvement. J. Plant Biochem. Biotechnol. (October 2012) 21 (Suppl 1):S24–S31.

La Camera, S., Gouzerh, G., Dhondt, S., Hoffmann, L., Fritig, B., Legrand, M. and Heitz, T. (2004). Metabolic reprogramming in plant innate immunity: the contributions of phenylpropanoid and oxylipin pathways. *Immunol Rev. 2004 Apr;198:267-84.*

Lachman, J. and Hamouz, K. (2005). Red and purple coloured potatoes as a

significant antioxidant source in human nutrition – a review. *PLANT SOIL ENVIRON.*, 51, 2005 (11): 477–482.

Lange, D.L. (2000). New Film Technologies for Horticultural Products. *Hortechnology July–September 2000 10(3): 487-490.*

Larson, R.H. and Albert, A.R. (1945). Physiological internal necrosis of potato tubers in Wisconsin. *Journal of Agricultural Research 71, 4*87-505.

Lawley, R. (2013). Glycoalkaloids 234

Lee, S.H., Rindgen, D., Bible, R.H. Jr., Hajdu, E. and Blair, I.A. (2000).

Characterization of 2'-deoxyadenosine adducts derived from 4-oxo-2-nonenal, a novel product of lipid peroxidation. *Chem Res Toxicol. 2000 Jul;13(7):565-74.*

Lehesranta, S.J., Davies, H.V., Shepherd, L.V.T., Nunan, N., McNicol, J.W., Auriola, S., Koistinen, K.M., Suomalainen, S., Kokko, H.I.and Karenlampi, S.O.

(2005). Comparison of Tuber Proteomes of Potato Varieties, Landraces, and Genetically Modified Lines. *Plant Physiology, July 2005, Vol. 138, pp. 1690–1699.*

Leiss, K.A., Choi, Y.H., Verpoorte, R. and Klinkhamer, P.G.L. (2011). An overview of NMR-based metabolomics to identify secondary plant compounds involved in host plant resistance. *Phytochem Rev (2011) 10:205–216.*

Levitt, J. and Minn, P. (1942). A histological study pf hollow heart of potatoes. American Potato Journal, vol. 19, pp:134-142.

Lewis, C.E., John Walker, J.R.W. Lancaster, J.E. and Sutton, K.H. (1998). Determination of Anthocyanins, Flavonoids and Phenolic Acids in Potatoes. I: Coloured

Cultivars of Solanum tuberosum L. J Sci Food Agric 1998, 77, 45-57.

Licausi, F. and Perata, P. (2009). Low oxygen signalling and tolerance in plants. *Adv Bot Res 50:189-198.*

Link, G.K.K. and Ramsey, G.B. (1932). Market Diseases of Fruits and Vegetables. Potatoes. *Blackheart, page 10.*

Lipton, W.J. (1967). Some effects of low-oxygen atmospheres on potato tubers. *American Potato Journal 44, 292-299.*

Lojkowska, E., (1988). Lipid composition and post-wounding degradation in potato slices from cultivars differing in susceptibility to autolysis. *Potato Research 31: 541-549.* 235

Lojkowska, E. and Holubowska, M. (1989). Changes of the lipid catabolism in potato tubers from cultivars differing in susceptibility to autolysis during the storage. *Potato Research 32 (1989) 463-470.*

Lukaszewicz, M., Matysiak-Kata, I., Skala, J., Fecka, I., Cisowski, W. and Szopa, J. (2004). Antioxidant Capacity Manipulation in Transgenic Potato Tuber by Changes in Phenolic Compounds Content. *J. Agric. Food Chem. 2004, 52, 1526-1533.*

Magness, J.R. (1920). Composition of gases in intercellular spaces of apples and potatoes. *Bot. Gaz. 70, 308 – 316.*

Malone, J.G., Mittova, V., Ratcliffe, R.G. and Kruger, N.J. (2006). The Response of Carbohydrate Metabolism in Potato Tubers to Low Temperature. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 47(9): 1309–1322.

Maloney, V. (2004). Plant Metabolomics. *BioTeach Journal, Vol. 2, Fall 2004, pp:92-99.*

Mandimika, T. (2008). Analysing the effects of single and mixtures of potato glycoalkaloids on gene expression in intestinal epithelial cells. *A Dissertation Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Cornell University.*

Mathooko, F.M. (1996). Regulation of respiratory metabolism in fruits and vegetables by carbon dioxide. *Postharvest Biology and Technology 9 (1996) 247-264.*

Matsuda, F., Morino, K., Miyashita, M. and Miyagawa, H. (2003). Metabolic Flux Analysis of the Phenylpropanoid Pathway in Wound-Healing Potato Tuber Tissue using Stable Isotope-Labelled Tracer and LC-MS Spectroscopy. *Plant Cell Physiol. 44(5): 510–517.*

Mattila, P. and Hellstrom, J. (2007). Phenolic acids in potatoes, vegetables and some of their products. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis 20, 152-160.* 236 Mackay, G.R., Brown, I. and Torrance, C.J.W. (1990). The processing potential of tubers of the cultivated potato, *Solanum tuberosum* L., after storage at low temperature. 1. Fry colour. *Potato Research 33 (1990) 211-218.*

McKenzie, M.J., Sowokinos, J.R., Shea, I.M., Gupta, S.K., Lindlauf, R.R. and Anderson, J.A.D. (2005). Investigations on the Role of Acid Invertase and UDP-glucose Pyrophosphorylase in Potato Clones with Varying Resistance to Cold-induced Sweetening. *Amer J of Potato Res (2005) 82:231-239.*

Mondy, N.I. and Munshi, C.B. (1993). Effect of maturity and storage on ascorbic acid and tyrosine concentrations and enzymatic discoloration of potatoes. *J Agric Food Chem* 41:1868–1871.

Mogen, K.L. and Nelson, D.C. (1986). Some anatomical and physiological potato tuber characteristics and their relationship to hollow heart. *American Potato Journal, vol. 63, pp:609-617.*

Muller-Thurgau, H. (1882). Uber Zuckeranhaufung in Pflanzentheilen in Folge niederer Temperatur. *Landwirtsch Jahrb 11:751-828.*

Nara, K., Miyoshi, T., Honma, T. and Koga, H. (2006). Antioxidative activity of bound-form phenolics in potato peel. *Biosci., Biotechnol., Biochem. 2006, 70, 1489–1491.*

Navarre, D.A., Pillai, S., Shakya, R. and Holden, M.J. (2011). HPLC profiling of phenolics in diverse potato genotypes, *Food Chem.* 127 (2011) 34-41.

Navarre, D.A., Payyavula, R.S., Shakya, R., Knowles, N.R. and Pillai, S.S. (2013). Changes in potato phenylpropanoid metabolism during tuber development. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 65 (2013) 89-101.* 237

Niggeweg, R., Michael, A.J. and Martin, C. (2004). Engineering plants with increased levels of the antioxidant chlorogenic acid, *Nat. Biotechnol.* 22 (2004) 746-754.

Nourian, F., Ramaswamya, H.S. and Kushalappa, A.C. (2003). Kinetics of quality change associated with potatoes stored at different temperatures. *Lebensm.-Wiss. U.- Technol.* 36 (2003) 49–65.

Nylund, R.E. and Lutz, J.M. (1950). Separation of hollow heart potato tubers by means of size grading, specific gravity, and x-ray examination. *Am Potato J* 27:214-222.

O'Brien, M.J. and Rich, A.E. (1976). Potato diseases. U.S. Dept. Agr., Agr Hdbk 474. Obouayeba, A.P., Djyh, N.B., Diabate, S., Djaman, A.J., N'guessan, J.D., Kone, M. and Kouakou, T.H. (2014). Phytochemical and Antioxidant Activity of Roselle (*Hibiscus Sabdariffa* L.) Petal Extracts. *March - April 2014 RJPBCS 5(2) Page No.* 1453-1464.

Palta, P.J. (2010). Improving Potato Tuber Quality and Production by Targeted Calcium Nutrition: the Discovery of Tuber Roots Leading to a New Concept in Potato Nutrition. *Potato Research (2010) 53:267–275.*

Patti, G.J., Yanes, O. and Siuzdak, G. (2012). Metabolomics: the apogee of the omics trilogy. *NATURE REVIEWS. MOLECULAR CELL BIOLOGY VOLUME 13, APRIL 2012. pp:263-269.*

Payyavula, R. S., Navarre, D. A., Kuhl, J. C., Pantoja, A. and Pillai, S.S. (2012). Differential effects of environment on potato phenylpropanoid and carotenoid expression. *BMC Plant Biol.* 2012, 12, 39. 238

Payyavula, R.S., Navarre, D.A., Kuhl, J. and Pantoja, A. (2013a). Developmental Effects on Phenolic, Flavonol, Anthocyanin, and Carotenoid Metabolites and Gene Expression in Potatoes. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 61, 7357–7365.

Payyavula, R.S., Singh, R.K. and Navarre, D.A. (2013b). Transcription factors, sucrose, and sucrose metabolic genes interact to regulate potato phenylpropanoid metabolism. *J. Exp. Bot. 64, 5115–5131.*

Payyavula, R.S., Shakya, R., Sengoda, V.G., Munyaneza, J.E., Swamy, P. and Navarre, D.A. (2014). Synthesis and regulation of chlorogenic acid in potato: Rerouting phenylpropanoid flux in HQT-silenced lines. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* (2014), pp. 1–14.

Pedreschi, R. Francka, C., Lammertyn, J., Erbanb, A., Kopkab, J., Hertog, M., Verlinden, B. and Nicolai, B.M. (2009). Metabolic profiling of 'Conference' pears under low oxygen stress. *Postharvest Biology and Technology 51 (2009) 123–130.*Percival, G.C. and Baird, L. (2000). Influence of Storage upon Light-Induced Chlorogenic Acid Accumulation in Potato Tubers (*Solanum tuberosum* L.). *J. Agric. Food Chem. 2000, 48, 2476-2482.*

Perez-Trejo, M.S., Janes, H.W. and Frenkel, C. (1981). Mobilization of Respiratory Metabolism in Potato Tubers by Carbon Dioxide. *Plant Physiol.* (1981) 67, 514-517. Petrussa, E., Braidot, E., Zancani, M., Peresson, C., Bertolini, A., Patui, S. and Vianello, A. (2013). Plant Flavonoids—Biosynthesis, Transport and Involvement in Stress Responses. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2013, 14, 14950-14973.

Pierpoint, W.S. (1966). The Enzymic Oxidation of Chlorogenic Acid and some Reactions of the Quinone Produced. *Biochem. J. (1968) 98, 567.*

Pinheiro, P.F. and Justino, G.C. (2012). Structural Analysis of Flavonoids and Related Compounds – A Review of Spectroscopic Applications. *InTechOpen. Phytochemicals – A Global Perspective of Their Role in Nutrition and Health. Chapter 2.* 239

Pourcel, L., Routaboul1, J-M., Cheynier, V. Lepiniec, L. and Debeaujon, I. (2006). Flavonoid oxidation in plants: from biochemical properties to physiological functions. Trends *Plant Sci. 2007 Jan;12(1):29-36. Epub 2006 Dec 11.*

Pressey, R. (1969). Role of invertase in the accumulation of sugars in cold-stored potatoes. *Am Potato J* 46:291-297.

Pringle, R.T. (1996). Storage of seed potatoes in pallet boxes. 2. Causes of tuber surface wetting. *Potato Research 39 (1996) 223- 240.*

Purvis, A.C. and Shewfelt. R.L. (1993). Does the alternative pathway ameliorate chilling injury in sensitive plant tissues? *Physiol Plant 88:712-718.*

Pushpa, D., Yogendra, K.N., R., Kushalappa, A.C. and Murphy, A. (2013). Identification of Late Blight Resistance-Related Metabolites and Genes in Potato through Nontargeted Metabolomics. *Plant Mol Biol Rep, 5th November.*

Rechner, A. R., Spencer, J. P.E., Kuhnle, G., Hahn, U. and Rice-Evans, C. (2001). Novel biomarkers of the metabolism of caffeic acid derivatives in vivo. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine, Vol. 30, No. 11, pp. 1213–1222.*

Reeve, R.M. (1968). Further histological comparisons of black spot, physiological internal necrosis, black heart and hollow heart in potatoes. *American Potato Journal, 45, 391-401.*

Reeve, R.M., Hautala, E. and Weaver, M.L. (1969). Anatomy and compositional variation within potatoes. II Phenolics, enzymes and other minor components. *American Potato Journal, vol. 46, pp. 374-386.*

Reeve, R.M., Timm, H. and Weaver. M.L. (1971). Cell size in Russet Burbank potato tubers with various levels of nitrogen and soil moisture tensions. *Am PotatoJ* 48:450-456. 240

Rex, B.L. and Mazza, G. (1989). Cause, control and detection of hollow heart in potatoes. a review. *American Potato Journal, vol. 66. pp. 165-183.*

Rindgen, D., Nakajima, M., Wehrli, S., Xu, K. and Blair, I.A. (1999). Covalent modifications to 2'-deoxyguanosine by 4-oxo-2-nonenal, a novel product of lipid peroxidation. *Chem Res Toxicol. 1999 Dec;12(12):1195-204.*

Robinson, A. and Secor, G. (2014). Internal Physiological Disorders: Internal Heat Necrosis and Blackheart - *A1738*

Roessner, U., Wagner, C., Kopka, J., Trethewey, R.N. and Willmitzer, L. (2000). Simultaneous analysis of metabolites in potato tuber by gas chromatography–mass spectrometry. *Plant J. 23, 131–142.*

Roessner, U., Luedemann, A., Brust, D., Fiehn, O., Linke, T., Willmitzer, L. and Fernie, A.R. (2001). Metabolic profiling allows comprehensive phenotyping of genetically or environmentally modified plant systems. *Plant Cell 13, 11–29.*

Sadowska, J., Fornal, J. and Zgorska, K. (2007). The distribution of mechanical resistance in potato tuber tissues. *Postharvest Biology and Technology 48 (2008) 70–76.*

Schijlen, E.G.W.M. (2007). Genetic engineering of flavonoid biosynthesis in tomato. *PhD thesis, FNWI: Swammerdam Institute for Life Sciences (SILS).*

Schippers. P.A. (1977a). The rate of respiration of potato tubers during storage. I. Review of literature. *Potato Rex. 20:000 000.*

Schotsmans, W., Verlinden, B.E, Lammertyn, J. and Nicolai, B.M. (2003). Simultaneous measurement of oxygen and carbon dioxide diffusivity in pear fruit tissue. *Postharvest Biology and Technology 29, 155–166.* 241

Schultz, M., Leist, M., Petrzika, M., Gassmann, B. and Brigelius-Floh, R. (1995). Novel urinary metabolite of a-tocopherol, 2,5,7,8-tetramethyl-2(2-carboxyethyl)-.6hydroxychroman, as an indicator of an adequate vitamin E supply? *Am J Clin Nutr 1995:62.*

Sen, A. (2012). Oxidative Stress Studies in Plant Tissue Culture. *Chapter 3.* http://www.intechopen.com/books/antioxidant-enzyme/oxidative-stress-studies-in-plant-tissue-culture

Sengul, M., Keles, F. and Keles, M.S. (2004). The effect of storage conditions (temperature, light, time) and variety on the glycoalkaloid content of potato tubers and sprouts. *Food Control 2004, 15, 281–286.*

Shakya, R. and Navarre, D.A. (2006). Rapid Screening of Ascorbic Acid, Glycoalkaloids, and Phenolics in Potato Using High-Performance Liquid Chromatography. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2006, 54, 5253-5260.

Shallenberger, R.S. and Treadway, R.H. (1959). Role of the Sugars in the Browning Reaction in Potato Chips. *Agricultural and food chemistry. vol 7, no. 4.*

Shekhar, V.C., Iritani, W.M. and Magnuson, J. (1979). Starch-sugar interconversion in Solanum tuberosum L. II. Influence of membrane permeability and fluidity. *American Potato Journal, vol. 56. pp. 225-234.*

Shepherd, T. Dobson, G. Verralla, S.R., Connera, S., Griffiths, W.D. and McNicol, J.W. (2007). Potato metabolomics by GC–MS: what are the limiting factors? *Metabolomics, Vol. 3, No. 4.*

Shepherd, L.V.T., Alexander, C.A., Sungurtas, J.A., McNicol, J.W., Stewart, D., and Davies, H.V. (2010). Metabolomic analysis of the potato tuber Life cycle. *Metabolomics*, *6*(2), 274–291.

Shepherd, L.V.T., Hackett, C.A., Alexander, C.J., Sungurtas, J.A. Pont, S.D.A., Stewart, D., McNicol, J.W., Wilcockson, S.J. Carlo Leifert, C. and Davies, H.V.

(2013). 242 Effect of agricultural production systems on the potato metabolome. *Metabolomics 10, 212-224.*

Shepherd, L.V.T., Alexander, C.J., Hackett, C.A., McRae, D., Sungurtas, J.A., Verrall, S.R., Morris, J.A., Hedley, P.E., Rockhold, D., Belknap, W. and Davies, H.V. (2014). Impacts on the metabolome of down-regulating polyphenol oxidase in potato tubers. *Transgenic Res. 2014 Nov 23.*

Sherman, M. and Ewing, E.E. (1982). Temperature, cyanide and oxygen effects on the respiration, chip colour, sugars and organic acids of stored tubers. *American Potato Journal. vol.* 59. pp. 165-178.

Simkhada, D., Kurumbang, N.P., Lee, H.C. and Sohng, J.K. (2010). Exploration of Glycosylated Flavonoids from Metabolically Engineered E. coli. *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering 15: 754-760.*

Simonovska, B. and Vovk, I. (2000). High-performance thin-layer chromatographic determination of potato glycoalkaloids. *Journal of Chromatography A, 903 (2000) 219–225.*

Smith, O., Nash, L.B. and Dittman, A.L. (1942). Potato quality. VI. Relation of temperature and other factors to blackening of boiled potatoes. *Amer. Potato Jour., 19* : 229-254.

Smith, W.L. (1978). Market diseases of potatoes. *Agriculture Handbook No. 479.* Smith, D.B., Roddick, J.G. and Jones, J.L. (1996). Potato glycoalkaloids: Some unanswered questions. *Trends in Food Science & Technology April 1996 Vol. 71.* Sontag, T.J. and Parker, R.S. (2002). Cytochrome P450 ω-Hydroxylase Pathway of Tocopherol Catabolism. *THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY Vol. 277, No. 28, Issue of July 12, pp. 25290–25296, 2002.* 243

Sowokinos, J.R., Lulai, E.C. and Knoper. J.A. (1985). Translucent tissue defects in *Solanum tuberosum* L. I: Alterations in amyloplast membrane integrity, enzyme activities, sugars and starch content. *Plant Physio178:489-494.*

Sowokinos, J.R. (2001). Biochemical and Molecular Control of Cold-Induced Sweetening in Potatoes. *Amer J of Potato Res (2001) 78:221-236.*

Sowokinos, J.R. 2007. Potato biology and biotechnology. Advances and perspectives. *Chapter 23. Internal physiological disorders and nutritional and compositional factors that affect market quality.*

Spychalla, J.P. and Desborough, S.L. (1990). Fatty Acids, Membrane Permeability, and Sugars of Stored Potato Tubers. *Plant Physiol. (1990) 94, 1207-1213.*

Spychalla, J.P. and Desborough, S.L. (1990). Superoxide Dismutase, Catalase, and a-Tocopherol Content of Stored Potato Tubers. *Plant Physiol. (1990) 94, 1214-1218.*

Stark, J.C., Olsen, N., Kleinkopf, G.E. and Love, S.L. (2003). Tuber quality. Pages 329-343 in: Potato Production Systems. J.C. Stark and S.L. Love, eds. Agric. Commun., Univ. of Idaho Moscow, ID.

Sterrett, S.B. and Henninger, M.R. (1977). Internal heat necrosis in the midAtlantic region – influence of environment and cultural management. *American Potato Journal. vol.* 74. pp. 233-243.

Stewart, F. C. and Mix, A.J. 1917. Black heart and aeration of potatoes in storage. *New York Agricultural Experimental Station (Geneva) Bulletin 436.*

Stewart, D., Shepherd, L.V.T., Hall, R.D. and Fraser, P.D. (2010). Crops and tasty. nutritious food – How can metabolomics help? *Annual Plant Reviews (2011) 43, 181–217.*

Sumner, L.W., Mendes, P. and Dixon, R.A. (2002). Plant metabolomics: large-scale phytochemistry in the functional genomics era. *Phytochemistry 62 (2003) 817–836.* 244

Tai, G.C.C. and Misener, G.C. (1994). A comparison of tuber shape and tissue composition of potato genotypes. *Potato Research, 1994, Volume 37, Issue 4, pp 353-364.*

Takahama, U. and Oniki, T. (1997a). A peroxidase/phenolics/ascorbate system can scavenge hydrogen peroxide in plant cells. *Physiol. Plant.* 101: 845–852.

Takahama, U. and Hirota, S. (2000). Transformation of quercetin glucosides to the aglycone and formation of antifungal agents by peroxidase-dependent oxidationof quercetin on browning of onion scales. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 41: 1021–1029.

Takahama, U., Hirotsu, M. and Oniki, T. (1999). Age-dependent changes in levels of ascorbic acid and chlorogenic acid, and activities of peroxidase and superoxide dismutase in the apoplast of tobacco leaves: mechanism of the oxidation of chlorogenic acid in the apoplast. *Plant Cell Physiol. 40: 716-724.*

Takahama, U. (2004). Oxidation of vacuolar and apoplastic phenolic substrates by peroxidase: Physiological significance of the oxidation reactions. *Phytochemistry Reviews 3: 207–219.*

Thompson, A.K. (1996). Postharvest technology of fruit and vegetables. Thornton, N.C. (1938). Oxygen regulates the dormancy of the potato. *Contrib Boyce Thompson Inst.* 10:339-361.

Tolstikov, V.V., Tanaka, N. and Fiehn, O. (2003). Metabolomics: LC-MS analysis development. *Joint BTS/Cereal Chemistry Symposium, Adelaide, Australia, September 8-10, 2003.* 245

UNECE 4th session (2011). Internal temperature-shock injuries. *Working Party on Agricultural Quality Standards Specialized Section on Standardization of Seed Potatoes. Geneva, 14-16 March 2011. ECE/TRADE/C/WP.7/GE.6/2011/INF.3.* **Uri, C., Juhász, Z., Polgár, Z. and Bánfalvi, Z. (2014).** A GC–MS-based metabolomics study on the tubers of commercial potato cultivars upon storage. *Food Chemistry 159 (2014) 287–292.*

Väänänen, T. (2007). Glycoalkaloid content and starch structure in Solanum species and interspecific somatic potato hybrids (dissertation). *EKTseries 1384. University of Helsinki, Department of Applied Chemistry and Microbiology.* 79 + 45 pp.

van Berkel, J., Salamini, F. and Gebhardt, C. (1994). Transcripts Accumulating during Cold Storage of Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) Tubers Are Sequence Related to Stress-Responsive Genes. *Plant Physiol. (1994) 104: 445-452.*

van Denburgh, R.W., Hiller, L.K. and Koller, D.C. (1980). Cool temperature induction of brown center in Russet Burbank potatoes. *HortScience 14: 259-260.*

van Denburgh, R.W., Hiller, L.K. and Koller, D.C. (1986). Ultrastructural Changes in Potato Tuber Pith Cells during Brown Center Development. *Plant Physiol. (1986) 81, 167-170.*

Vaughn, K.C, Lax, A.R. and Duke, S.O. (1988). Polyphenol oxidase—the chloroplast oxidase with no established function. *Physiol Plant* 72:659–665.

Verboven, P., Kerckhofs, G., Mebatsion, H.K., Ho, Q.T., Temst, K., Wevers, M., Cloetens, P. and Nicolai, B.M. (2008). Three-Dimensional Gas Exchange Pathways in Pome Fruit Characterized by Synchrotron X-Ray Computed Tomography. *Plant Physiology, June 2008, Vol. 147, pp. 518–527.* 246

Vogt, T. (2010). Phenylpropanoid Biosynthesis. *Molecular Plant. Volume 3. Number 1. Pages 2–20.*

Vorst, O., de Vos, C.H.R., Lommen, A., Staps, R.V., Visser, R.G.F., Bino, R.J. and Hall, R.D. (2005). A non-directed approach to the differential analysis of multiple LC–MS-derived metabolic profiles. *Metabolomics Vol. 1, No. 2, April 2005.*

Voss, R.E. Potato. Vegetable Crops Department, University of California, Davis, CA. www.ba.ars.usda.gov/hb66/potato.pdf

Wale, S. Platt, B. and Cattlin, N.D. (2008). Diseases, Pests and Disorders of Potatoes: A Colour Handbook. *Chapter 6: Non-infectious disorders. Environmental.*Watkins, C.B. (2000). Responses of Horticultural Commodities to High Carbon Dioxide as Related to Modified Atmosphere Packaging. *HorTechnology. July-September 10(3). pp: 501-506.*

Watts, K.C. and Russell, L.T. (1985). A review of techniques for detecting hollow heart in potatoes. *Canandian Agricultural Engineering, Vol. 27, No. 2, Fall 1985. pp:85-90.*

Weaver, M.L., Timm, H., Nonaka, M., Sayre, R.N., Reeve, R.M. McCready, R.M. and Whitehand, L.C. (1978). Potato composition: II. Tissue selection and its effects on total sugar, reducing sugar, glucose, fructose and sucrose contents. *American Potato Journal. vol.55. pp*:83-93.

Weber, J. (1990). Intercellular spaces enhance potato tuber elasticity. *Potato Research* 33 (1990) 335- 340.

Werij, J.S., Kloosterman, B., Celis-Gamboa, C., de Vos, C.H.R., America, T., Visser, R.G.F. and Bachem, C.W.B. (2007). Unravelling enzymatic discoloration in potato through 247 a combined approach of candidate genes, QTL, and expression analysis. *Theor Appl Genet (2007) 115:245–252.*

Wigginton, M.J. (1973). Diffusion of oxygen through lenticels in potato tuber. Short communication. Potato Res. 16 (1973): 85-87.

Wills, R.B.H., (1989). Postharvest: an introduction to the physiology and handling of fruit and vegetables.

Wismer, W.V., Worthing, W.M., Yada, R.Y. and Marangoni, A.G. (1998). Membrane lipid dynamics and lipid peroxidation in the early stages of low-temperature sweetening in tubers of *Solanum tuberosum*. *Physiologia Plantarum Volume 102, Issue 3, pages 396–410.*

Wolcott, A.R. and Ellis, N.K. (1956). Associated forms of internal browning of potato tubers in northern Indiana. *American Potato Journal 33, 342-352.*

Wolcott, A.R. and Ellis, N.K. (1959). Internal browning of potato tubers: varietal susceptibility as related to weather and cultural practices. *American Potato Journal 36, 394-403.*

Woolley, J.T. (1962). Potato Tuber Tissue Respiration & Ventilation. *Plant Physiol.* 37:793-798.

Woolley, J.T. (1983). Maintenance of Air in Intercellular Spaces of Plants. *Plant Physiol.* (1983) 72, 989-991.

Workman, M. Cameron, A. and Twomey, J. (1979). Influence of chilling on potato tuber respiration, sugar, o-dihydroxyphenolic content and membrane permeability. *American Potato Journal. vol. 56. pp:*277-288. 248

Yang, W-L. and Bernards, M.A. (2007). Metabolite profiling of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) tubers during wound-induced suberization. *Metabolomics, Vol. 3, No. 2, June 2007.*

Yao, K., De Luca, V., Brisson, N. (1995). Creation of a metabolic sink for tryptophan alters the phenylpropanoid pathway and the susceptibility of potato to *Phytophthora infestans. The Plant Cell. 7, 1787-1799.*

Zabalza, A., van Dongen, J.T., Froehlich, A., Oliver, S.N., Faix, B., Gupta, K.J., Izlin, E.S., Igal, M., Orcaray, L., Royuela, M. and Geigenberger, P. (2009). Regulation of Respiration and Fermentation to Control the Plant Internal Oxygen Concentration. *Plant Physiol. Vol. 149, 1087-1098.*

Zhang, K.J. (2006). The rate of tyrosinase reaction and its activity in potato and banana. *Cross-sections Volume II 2006. pp:195-206.*

Zhou, D. and Solomos, T. (1998). Effect of hypoxia on sugar accumulation, respiration, activities of amylase and starch phosphorylase, and induction of alternative oxidase and acid invertase during storage of potato tubers (Solanum tuberosum cv. Russet Burbank) at 1°C. *Physiologia Plantarum Volume 104, Issue 2, pages 255–265, October 1998.*

Zhou, Y., Dahler, J.M., Underhill, S.J.R. and Wills, R.B.H. (2003). Enzymes associated with blackheart development in pineapple fruit. *Food Chemistry 80 (2003)* 565–572.

Zommick, D.H., Kumar, G.N.M., Knowles, L.O. and Knowles, N.R. (2013). Translucent tissue defect in potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) tubers is associated with oxidative stress accompanying an accelerated aging phenotype. *Planta (2013)* 238:1125–1145. 249